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October 2020

 
The Hon. James Merlino MP 
Deputy Premier and Minister for Education 
1 Treasury Place 
East Melbourne Victoria 3002

Dear Minister

In accordance with the Education and Training Reform Act 2006 and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Victorian Curriculum and Assessment 
Authority Annual Report for the year ending 30 June 2020.

Yours sincerely

Chris Wardlaw 
Chair
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Objectives and functions
The Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority (VCAA) 
came into operation on 1 March 2001, succeeding the 
Board of Studies. It was established under the Victorian 
Curriculum and Assessment Authority Act 2000 (repealed) 
and is continued under the Education and Training Reform 
Act 2006 (the Act). The VCAA operates within the scope of 
the functions and powers conferred upon it by Part 2.5 of 
the Act and other relevant legislation. 

Under the Act, the VCAA is responsible for: 

• developing high-quality courses and curriculum 
and assessment products and services 

• providing linkages that will facilitate movement 
between those courses and other courses 

• carrying out functions as a body registered under 
Chapter 4 of the Act.

Vision
A global education leader.

Mission
Provide high-quality curriculum, assessment and reporting 
to enable learning for life.

Strategy statement
Enable education professionals to maximise learning 
outcomes for Victorians, from birth to senior secondary.

Goals
Improve and adapt curriculum, assessment and reporting. 
Enhance the capability of education professionals.  
Digitally deliver products and services.

Values
The VCAA upholds the Victorian Public Sector values of: 

• responsiveness 

• integrity 

• impartiality 

• accountability 

• respect 

• leadership 

• human rights.
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS  
– YEAR IN REVIEW

Chair’s report
This year of disruption to the education sector has 
challenged us. Bushfires devastated many Victorian 
communities during the year and impacted many students’ 
lives. I am pleased that we could provide support to 
teachers and students through the VCAA Bushfire 
Education website and other resources. Shortly after, 
COVID-19 began disrupting our lives, and we entered 
remote working and learning – a period of shifting and 
challenging circumstances.

It is a challenge that our organisation met and continued 
to serve the children and young people who learn the 
Victorian curriculum. For this, I want to thank all Board 
members, Chief Executive Officer Sharyn Donald and all 
the remarkable people in our organisation. We certainly 
appreciate the willingness of students, teachers, school 
leaders and parents to adapt in radical ways, and provide 
feedback, which has underlined the value Victorians place 
on education. I also wish to thank all the teachers and 
educators who assist the VCAA through its extensive 
committees and consultative mechanisms and the 
education sectors (government, Catholic and independent) 
that have been generous and supportive throughout the 
year. The quality of our work is greatly enhanced by this 
level of engagement. 

We saw the departure at the end of August 2019 
of CEO, Dr David Howes, to take up the position of 
Deputy Secretary, Schools and Regional Services at the 
Department of Education and Training. I am grateful for 
David’s leadership and contribution as CEO and previously 
as Executive Director, Curriculum. Claude Sgroi acted as 
CEO most capably prior to Sharyn commencing in January.

My thanks to Deputy Secretary, School Education 
Programs and Support at the Department of Education 
and Training, Stephen Gniel, who stepped in as acting CEO 
while Sharyn was on leave.

In response to the challenging circumstances students, 
parents, teachers and school leaders have faced this year, 
one of the key areas of our focus has been the changes to 
Victorian Certificate of Education (VCE) study designs to 
ensure no student was disadvantaged and that the integrity 
of the VCE was retained.

We have further supported the community through 
webinars to teachers across the state, letters to principals, 
regularly updated information on our website, and regular 
bulletins and notices to schools. In addition, our people 
were constantly available to answer queries. 

We are taking steps to ensure the organisation’s ongoing 
strength and preparedness. Our Strategic Outlook 2020–21 
was developed ahead of a three-year strategic plan for 
2021–24 to map the path ahead in supporting children and 
young people in their learning. 

In delivering priorities for the government and the education 
sector, we have been steadily progressing the General 
Achievement Test (GAT) redevelopment despite delays in 
some program elements as a consequence of COVID-19. 
The new GAT will introduce a literacy and numeracy 
component into this senior student assessment and include 
VCAL as well as VCE students. It will reinforce Victoria’s 
curriculum focus on literacy and numeracy and how these 
skills help equip students with learning for life. A statement 
of attainment for each student will recognise their learning 
and assist them in gaining employment or choosing their 
next study options. 

The Board is also very cognisant that the curriculum must 
always reflect community changes and trends. We are 
evaluating the implementation of the Victorian Early Years 
Learning and Development Framework and monitoring 
the Victorian Curriculum F–10, which will provide feedback 
to our ongoing design of the curriculum at all key stages 
of learning. The relevance of curriculum content is under 
constant review and the past year has seen several Board 
discussions on this matter. An important example is the 
Board discussion on the importance of texts used in 
schools reflecting diverse voices – especially Indigenous 
and other strong contemporary voices in our communities. 

This year, the Board was thrilled to welcome new members 
Aayushi Khillan, Seir Holley and Catharine Hydon. As a 
recent VCE graduate, Aayushi brings contemporary views 
from a student perspective. 

My thanks again to my fellow Board members, Sharyn, and 
the entire team on a challenging, but successful year.

Chris Wardlaw 
Chair
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Chief Executive Officer’s report
It was a privilege to be asked in early August 2020 to take 
on the role of CEO as part of changes to meet the Victorian 
Government’s priorities in fighting the COVID-19 pandemic.

Under the changes, Sharyn Donald was redeployed to the 
Department Secretary’s office to help lead the Department’s 
critical planning for Term 4, including school transitions and 
strategic planning for 2021. I would like to thank Sharyn 
for her service as CEO. She took up her appointment 
in January and led the organisation through a critical 
period. Her new role reflects the resilience required in 
Department operations as we all adapt to meeting the 
priorities of Government.

I moved across from the position of Deputy Secretary, 
School Education Programs and Support Group on 17 
August. After gaining extensive knowledge as the Secretary’s 
representative on the VCAA Board, and from earlier in the 
year as Acting CEO, I appreciate this opportunity to continue 
my involvement and guide the organisation as we enter a 
critical phase of the education year. 

Everyone can be proud of what we have achieved so 
far and the appreciation and confidence of stakeholders 
in our work. Our capability across the organisation and 
the strength of our relationships with the Department 
and schools will be vital as we work together to deliver 
exams in a COVID-19 environment. We are all united in 
a commitment to support our students right through this 
extraordinary year. 

While we work hard to ensure Victoria’s continuing 
confidence in curriculum and assessment in these 
challenging circumstances, we are also looking to the future 
and developing initiatives such as the Digital Assessment 
Library, which are essential to driving our goal to be a global 
leader in education.

It is very pleasing to approach this challenging period 
with strong staff engagement in our role and doing 
whatever is necessary to deliver. I look forward to 
demanding but rewarding work alongside staff and 
stakeholders as we support the education sector through 
this unprecedented year.

 
Stephen Gniel 
Chief Executive Officer
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Year in review
Our core work in the 2019–20 financial year was delivering:

·	 Victorian Early Years Learning and Development 
Framework (VEYLDF)

·	 Victorian Curriculum F–10

·	 National Assessment Program – Literacy and 
Numeracy (NAPLAN)

·	 Victorian Certificate of Education (VCE)

·	 Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL)

·	 Vocational Education and Training (VET).

This report records our work across these programs in curriculum and assessment and outlines our planned initiatives 
for 2020–21.

Highlights at a glance
In 2019, 49,366 students completed the VCE and 14,061 completed the VCAL. We issued 755,370 graded assessments 
to VCE students. Of these, 60 per cent (455,270) were School-based Assessments and 40 per cent (300,100) were 
external assessments.

Study scores 2015–2019

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Number of study scores issued 258,472 257,070 259,854 259,152 249,364

Students with at least one study score 76,655 77,058 77, 404 76,979 74,824

Students with at least one study score of 40+ 14,782 14,653 14,806 14,695 14,225

Students with at least one study score of 50 614 611 661 616 575

Number of study scores of 50 683 673 732 690 639

Key assessment outcomes 2015–2019 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019*

VCE completions 49,460 49,801 50,908 50,981 49,366

Students awarded the VCE (Baccalaureate) 4,033 3,808 3,939 4,052 3,755

VCAL certificate completions 13,257 13,208 13,255 13,280 14,061

Students who successfully completed at least one unit of 
higher education study

481 623 667 674 634

*The VCE cohort in 2019 was smaller than previous years.

Results delivered to students’ homes 2015–2019 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

VCE Statements of Results 80,140 81,175 81,919 81,552 79,393

General Achievement Test (GAT) statements 77,623 78,855 79,043 78,760 76,676

VET Statements of Results 14,628 15,820 14,913 15,783 15,007

VCAL Statements of Results 3,645 3,596 3,691 3,514 3449

Statements of equivalent qualification 435 507 430 285 325
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Results delivered to students through their school 2015–2019 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

VCE Statements of Results 67,179 67,052 69,412 68,228 66,503

VET Statements of Results 34,047 34,132 38,432 38,559 39,841

VCAL Statements of Results 18,129 18,224 18,636 18,634 19,499

Results delivered to overseas students and providers 2015–2019

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

GAT statements to Crawford Schools in South Africa 615 561 1066 500 519

Certificates of results to overseas providers 632 464 535 589 381

Statements of results to overseas providers 506 569 586 819 822

VCAA and VTAC end-of-year results service 2015–2019 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Students who accessed their results online 57,891 61,485 71,863 72,174 63,307

Students who accessed their online results via mobile 
phones

30,692 37,109 36,458 48,575 33,633

Early Years
In partnership with the Department of Education and 
Training, we continued to manage the implementation 
of the Victorian Early Years Learning and Development 
Framework (VEYLDF). The framework links to the first three 
levels of the Victorian Curriculum F–10.

We actively engaged with the early years sector in 2019–20 
to embed the VEYLDF in practice to improve outcomes for 
all children.

Key activities

• Published the final four resources focusing on the 
VEYLDF Learning and Development Outcomes ‘Children 
have a strong sense of identity’, and ‘Children are 
connected with and contribute to their world’. This 
series of literature reviews and practice guides support 
early childhood professionals to engage more deeply in 
assessment and practice.  

• Launched Supporting Bilingualism, Multilingualism and 
Language Learning in the Early Years, a new practice 
guide for early childhood professionals.

• Managed the final stages of the trial and evaluation of 
Improving Teaching Skills for Early Childhood Education 
(ITSECE), a self-assessment tool for educators to 
enhance instructional support (intentional-teaching 
skills), and started planning for delivery to the sector 
through a professional learning program. 

• Published the Early Years Planning Cycle Resource for 
the Victorian Early Years Learning and Development 
Framework. This resource demonstrates how the Early 
Years Planning Cycle can be applied to observe, assess 
and respond to evidence of children’s learning, and 
to illustrate and provide a model for teaching specific 
concepts to children aged up to eight years within 
everyday learning environments.

• Engaged with the early childhood sector through two 
twilight seminars at the Bastow Institute of Educational 
Leadership. These were broadcast across metropolitan 
and regional Victoria.

• Managed an evaluation of implementation activities 
related to the VEYLDF from 2016 to 2020, including how 
well early childhood professionals have engaged with the 
framework and embedded it in their practice.  
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Victorian Curriculum F–10
We continued to provide this high-quality curriculum for 
the compulsory years of schooling through our dedicated 
website (victoriancurriculum.vcaa.vic.edu.au). 

Almost 6.5-million page views logged by our site users 
included:

• 359,661 for F–10 mathematics curriculum pages 

• 261,990 for F–10 English curriculum pages  

• 113,908 for F–10 science curriculum pages.

We provided teachers and curriculum leaders with planning, 
teaching and assessment resources, accompanied by 
extensive professional learning opportunities. 

A key activity was redeveloping the resources section of 
the VCAA’s main website (vcaa.vic.edu.au), so teachers and 
others could more easily find resources such as:

• audit and planning templates 

• teaching resources, such as sample units of work

• assessment resources, including indicative progress 
examples and formative assessment resources

• answers to frequently asked questions 

• information about professional development 
opportunities. 

Increasing awareness of the 288 references to Aboriginality 
and Aboriginal perspectives in the Victorian Curriculum 
F–10 was a major focus. We provided resources 
and professional learning opportunities to teachers, 
demonstrating how these could be appropriately 
incorporated into a school’s teaching and learning program. 

Curriculum planning

The curriculum planning website (curriculumplanning.vcaa.
vic.edu.au) provided resources to assist school leaders 
with whole-school curriculum planning, a self-assessment 
tool, examples and templates for schools to use when 
documenting a comprehensive, school-wide curriculum.

Curriculum monitoring

Understanding how the curriculum is being implemented 
in Victorian schools is the aim of the second curriculum 
monitoring framework introduced in February 2020. The 
framework continues the systematic curriculum monitoring 
processes for the Victorian Curriculum F–10, which began 
in 2019. 

Bushfire Education resources update

A major refresh of the Bushfires Education website 
(bushfireeducation.vic.edu.au) updated and aligned lesson 
plans for Foundation to Year 8 students to learn about, 
prepare for, respond to and recover from bushfires. 
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National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN) 
2020 testing 
NAPLAN testing in Victorian schools in 2020 was cancelled 
because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

On Friday 20 March, Education Ministers across all 
jurisdictions announced that NAPLAN would not proceed in 
2020 to allow schools and teachers to focus on continuity 
of learning and student health and wellbeing.

As a result, the Education Council has extended the 
transition of NAPLAN online to 2022 with online participation 
from Victorian schools in 2021 limited to those schools that 
were expected to complete testing online in 2020.

Students in Years 3, 5, 7 and 9 undertake NAPLAN 
testing, which we conduct on behalf of the Australian 
Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority 
(ACARA). The testing examines student proficiency in 
language conventions (spelling, grammar and punctuation), 
writing, reading and numeracy to measure whether young 
Australians are meeting important educational outcomes. 

NAPLAN Online progress

NAPLAN testing has been progressively moving online since 
2018.  Around 40 per cent of Victorian schools were expected 
to conduct NAPLAN testing online in 2020 ahead of all 
schools moving to online testing by 2021.

To support NAPLAN Online in Victoria, we have:

• arranged school participation in a national School 
Readiness Test 

• conducted face-to-face training and funded up to two 
staff to attend for each participating school

• refined support materials for participating schools, 
including implementation guides, incident response 
guidance and user manuals for the online platform

• provided information for parents and carers on our 
website in 15 community languages.

We continue to participate in reference groups and 
committees at a local and national level as part of the 
online transition.

NAPLAN 2019 results

The results for more than 280,000 Victorian students who 
sat the NAPLAN 2019 were released to schools, parents 
and carers in September 2019.

Individual reports showed each student’s proficiency in 
language conventions, writing, reading and numeracy. 

The reports were delivered via the secure NAPLAN Data 
Service. As a follow-up, we conducted professional 
development workshops for teachers, principals and 
curriculum leaders at multiple locations across Victoria. 

We worked with ACARA to coordinate the development 
of the tests, along with other state and territory test 
administration authorities, the Australian Government, and 
non-government school representatives.

We again marked Tasmanian NAPLAN writing tests (around 
24,000), as well as Victorian tests. 

Digital Assessment Library
The Digital Assessment Library (DAL) has been established 
to offer high quality online classroom student assessments 
designed to provide teachers with meaningful and timely 
information about students’ learning progress. 

Development of assessment content for the DAL has been 
ongoing with contracts executed for the provision of English 
and Mathematics content. This adds to the continuing 
development of tasks to assess students’ learning in 
Critical and Creative Thinking (CCT).

Trials of English, Mathematics and CCT assessment 
content were successfully undertaken in September 
and October as part of quality assurance and calibration 
processes. 

The DAL was also used to administer a sample of 
CCT assessments to interstate students as part of a 
collaboration with ACARA to support the National Learning 
Progressions Initiative in late 2019.

We designed an assessment specifically for students 
participating in the Department of Education’s Middle Years 
Literacy and Numeracy Support initiative, delivered via the 
DAL in March.

The DAL entered an open trial phase in December with 
schools able to access the platform and administer 
assessments. At 30 June, 375 schools had registered 
to use the platform. The DAL online platform has been 
enhanced throughout this trial, with work well underway 
towards a major release with improved functionality and 
reporting capability for teachers.
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Education State sample assessments
We continued to coordinate the statewide sample 
assessment program in CCT and The Arts to support 
tracking of Education State targets.   

We delivered a sample assessment program across Year 6 
and 10 students selected from a representative sample of 
Victorian schools across all sectors. 

Online CCT assessments were delivered in 117 schools in 
Term 3, 2019.

Paper and performance-based assessments were delivered 
in 119 schools in Visual Arts, Music and Drama in Terms 2 
and 3, 2019. 

We employ supervisors to facilitate the CCT assessments in 
schools, and assessors to assess works and performances 
for The Arts.

Results are psychometrically analysed to produce annual 
excellence percentages for Years 6 and 10 in both CCT and 
The Arts to inform the overall performance of the state and 
enable tracking against the targets. 
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Senior Secondary Curriculum
Victoria offers two major senior secondary certificates of 
education – the Victorian Certificate of Education (VCE) and 
the Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning (VCAL).

We are responsible for these two certificates and continued 
to support their delivery through developing high-quality 
curriculum and assessments, advice, teacher support materials, 
professional development activities and online resources. 

We continued to develop and maintain the recognition 
arrangements for Vocational and Educational Training (VET) 
within the VCE and the VCAL.

We also delivered professional development to school VCE 
leadership teams and classroom teachers to support their 
analysis of their school’s VCE results using our online services. 

VCE

The VCE includes a broad range of studies. At the beginning 
of the 2020 school year, more than 130 studies were 
offered, including 48 languages, 26 VCE VET programs, and 
school-based apprenticeships and traineeships. 

The VCE curriculum is subject to rigorous quality assurance 
processes through annual monitoring, cyclical evaluation 
and reaccreditation to ensure that Victorian students can 
access the highest-quality curriculum.

VET programs are fully integrated within the VCE and 
provide students with credit in the VCE and credit for 
national training qualifications issued within the Australian 
Qualifications Framework.

VCAL

VCAL programs support students to explore pathways into 
employment and/or further training that meet their individual 
needs, learning styles and career aspirations. In 2019, the 
qualification was reaccredited by the VRQA for a period of 
five years.

There are three VCAL levels: Foundation, Intermediate and 
Senior. Students start at the VCAL level matching their 
needs and abilities. A student’s learning program comprises 
four compulsory curriculum strands:

• Literacy and Numeracy Skills

• Work Related Skills

• Industry Specific Skills

• Personal Development Skills. 
In 2019, aspects of the VCAL curriculum were revised: 
Work Related Skills Strand, Personal Development Skills 
Strand, Skills for Further Study – Senior and Portfolio 
Development and Enhancement – Senior. All revised 
curriculum was accredited by the VRQA for implementation 
in 2020 and supported by the development of new advice 
for teachers. 

Advice for teachers was provided on the VCAA website and 
was supported by webinars. 

VCAL Review 

In November 2019, the Minister for Education launched 
the Review into Vocational and Applied Learning Pathways 
in Senior Secondary Schooling, headed by former VCAA 
Chief Executive Officer John Firth, to review VCAL and 
VET delivered to secondary students. The review’s terms 
of reference include purpose, design, delivery, outcomes 
and reputation. The timeline for delivery of the report and 
recommendations to the Minister were pushed back to later 
in 2020 as a result of COVID-19. 

VET

VET qualifications contribute to both the VCE and VCAL 
through credit arrangements determined by the VCAA. 
They form an important vocational aspect of VCAL 
programs and are essential at the Intermediate and Senior 
levels where they satisfy the Industry Specific Skills Strand. 
Both VCE and VCAL programs can include school-based 
apprenticeships and traineeships.

Get VET

The ‘Get VET’ awareness campaign continued to 
emphasise how VET can provide skills sought by 
employers, provide flexibility in choice and lead to a career 
the student can be passionate about.

Get VET publications, resources, activities and videos 
were made available on our website. Videos were 
prepared for 23 of the 26 VCE VET programs; the 
remaining three were delayed due to restrictions placed 
on accessing schools during remote learning.

The final stage of the campaign (teacher resources and 
pathways posters) was delayed due to teachers being 
unavailable for consultations.
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VET highlights

Enrolments in VET in 2019 increased from the previous 
year with 51,404 students enrolled at 627 providers. This 
resulted in 69,735 certificate enrolments across a range of 
industries, including 3743 enrolments in school-based or 
part-time apprenticeships and traineeships.

Structured Workplace Learning (SWL) recognition became 
available for all schools during 2019. Uptake was lower 
than expected because of schools having locked in 
subject selections for students before the release of all 
of the required support materials. Further materials to 
support SWL recognition were made available at the 
VET statewide workshops conducted at 14 locations in 
November and on the website.

Revisions to scored assessment of VCE VET programs 
were completed; in December 300 teachers attended three 
workshops that provided an overview of the changes. 

We conducted statewide workshops on new 
developments in VCE VET programs and the VET sector 
for more than 800 participants from schools, registered 
training organisations (RTO) and industry representatives 
at 14 locations across the state.

In partnership with professional teaching associations, 
tertiary providers and RTOs, we provided professional 
development programs for VCE VET Agriculture, 
Automotive, Equine Industry, Health, Hospitality, 
Information Digital Media and Technology, Music and 
Sport and Recreation programs.

We conducted workshops for more than 300 teachers 
and trainers from schools and RTOs delivering scored 
VCE VET programs. Webinars were offered to teachers 
who could not attend due to remote learning.

We also provided research, advice, assistance and 
support to networks of teachers, trainers and VET 
personnel from ACARA, schools, DET, Independent 
Schools Victoria, the Catholic Education Commission, 
TAFE, private RTOs, industry and government 
organisations, including the Victorian Skills Commissioner 
and the commission’s industry advisory groups.

VET curriculum development activities

• Minor reviews were conducted of VCE VET Electrical 
Industry, Information Digital Media and Technology and 
Sport and Recreation for implementation from 2020. 

• A major review of Equine Studies replaced the Certificate 
II with a Certificate III. 

• The transition was completed for the revised VASS 
certificate types: VE1 for VCAA-approved VCE VET 
programs, VE2 for apprenticeships or traineeships with 
training schemes approved by the VRQA and VE3 for all 
other VET qualifications.

Our response to COVID-19

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we took a 
flexible and agile approach, with the guiding principles 
of ensuring that no student was disadvantaged and 
protecting the integrity of the VCE as a nationally and 
internationally recognised high-quality qualification.

As part of easing student workload to lessen the 
impact of the sudden move to remote and flexible 
learning, we reviewed the Unit 4 component of every 
VCE study design to manage learning and associated 
School-based Assessment tasks. These reviews and 
reasonable adjustment in content and assessment 
study by study ensured genuine relief for students 
while maintaining the integrity of the individual study 
design and the VCE certificate. The broad aims and 
intentions of the studies will still be achieved and can 
be assessed fairly and accurately.

We also delivered an extensive professional learning 
program to support VCE Unit 3 and 4 teachers to 
implement and deliver the adjusted study designs for 
2020 and to answer questions related to the adjusted 
content and School-based Assessment. Webinars, 
on-demand videos and supporting documentation 
including FAQs were prepared for each VCE study.

The VCAA Board and the CEO of the Victorian 
Regulations and Qualifications Authority (VRQA) also 
approved a 12-month extension to  the accreditation 
periods for all accredited VCE study designs to support 
teachers to focus on the continuity of learning in their 
schools. Newly reaccredited VCE study designs that 
were due to be delivered in schools in 2021 will now be 
delivered in 2022. VCE study designs that were under 
review in 2020 will now be delivered by schools in 
2023 (rather than 2022).

For VCAL, our focus was on supporting students to 
remain connected to their learning and to provide 
opportunities for teachers to implement programs 
remotely.

We also determined appropriate action for schools 
to follow where students were unable to complete 
the practical requirements of scored Units 3 and 4 
sequences from VCE VET programs. This information 
was published on the VCAA website and supported by 
a webinar for teachers.

Schools were advised on adjusted requirements for 
students to access SWL recognition for 2020, which 
included reducing the number of days in a workplace 
and the hours of training required.
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Senior Secondary Assessment

VCE examinations

Victoria’s annual VCE examination cycle is a core activity 
in our responsibilities for assessment and reporting. 
Thousands of examiners and administrators worked 
together to deliver the 2019 external examination program. 

Preparing for the exams again in 2020 involved a wide 
range of planning and activity across Victoria. In the lead-up 
to the examination cycle, we conducted extensive training 
and professional development to support the examination 
program across Victorian schools. 

Examination period

Across Victoria, 522 schools operated as examination 
centres for more than 83,000 students who sat exams in 
2019. The exam period ran from Wednesday 30 October to 
Wednesday 20 November 2019.

During the examination period, we delivered:

• oral examinations for 44 language studies, involving 
10,122 students and 603 assessors at 37 venues over 
23 days 

• performance examinations for seven VCE and VCE VET 
arts studies, involving 4916 students and 366 assessors 
at 115 venues, were conducted over a 28-day period 

• 112 written examinations for 109 VCE studies were 
conducted over 16 days, starting with the Collaborative 
Curriculum Assessment Framework for Languages 
(CCAFL) examinations on Wednesday 23 October. 

We worked with the Victorian Tertiary Admissions Centre to 
issue results to students on Thursday 12 December 2019.

This completed a 50-day program of work that 
covered processing and assessing all student written 
examinations, finalising exam scores, allocating grades 
and calculating results.

Examination access

Access to examination facilities was equitable for all 
students. This included the accessibility of examination 
rooms and ensuring sufficient time for students to enter and 
leave. We also provided a range of special provision options 
to enable students to access VCE examination material 
– these included clarifiers, scribes, extra writing time and 
the use of assistive technologies, including computers. 
Where required, examinations were provided in alternative 
formats, including Braille, e-text and large print, for students 
with special examination arrangements. Two hundred and 
fourteen alternative format examinations were supplied for 
the written examination period.

Preparing for 2020 exams

In early 2020, we again offered a professional learning 
program designed primarily for teachers who had not 
had previous or recent experience marking VCE written 
examinations.  

Nineteen sessions were planned to be delivered however 
delivery was impacted by COVID-19. Six sessions were 
delivered for English, Legal Studies, Chemistry and Biology. 
More than 50 schools were represented. One of two 
English sessions was delivered face-to-face with all other 
sessions delivered via webinar. 

Training sessions for the new VCE Special Examination 
Arrangements online application system were delivered 
in February and March. A total of 13 sessions were held, 
attended by 282 school-based staff representing 214 schools.

Our training and other support included: 

• training chief supervisors and school staff responsible for the 
conduct and administration of VCE written examinations

• monitoring the conduct and administration of VCE 
written examinations through site visits to ensure schools 
comply with requirements.

Revised dates for the 2020 VCE examinations were 
announced by the Minister for Education James Merlino 
in May. Written examinations will start in the week 
commencing Monday 9 November and will be completed 
by Wednesday 2 December. 

The November date for beginning exams gives sufficient 
time for teachers and students to complete adjusted VCE 
Unit 4 studies and school-based assessments and prepare 
for examinations. Results will be released on Wednesday 
30 December. 

Special Provision

We provided ongoing technical support from the start of 
the 2020 academic year for the Special Provision online 
system, including the Special Examination Arrangements 
online application, which was available to all schools for 
this year’s General Achievement Test and end-of-year 
external assessments. 

School-based Assessments audit

In 2019, 1756 audits were performed across 596 schools. 
We used VASS to notify schools and report audit outcomes, 
enabling them to track their audits. An individual tailored 
report was delivered to each school. The 2020 annual audit of 
school-based assessment was launched in February 2020.

General Achievement Test redevelopment
After extensive analysis and test design, a public 
tender was issued for redevelopment of the General 
Achievement Test (GAT) to support the introduction of 
literacy and numeracy standards reporting for Victorian 
senior secondary students.  The Australian Council 

for Educational Research (ACER) was engaged to 
commence the redevelopment. A range of content is 
being developed to facilitate in-school trialing to ensure 
the quality of items and writing tasks and validate the test 
design. Expert panels are quality assuring all content.
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Recognising Victoria’s young people
We celebrated and promoted young people’s achievements 
through a variety of awards and scholarships.

The Plain English Speaking Award provides students with 
an opportunity to extend their skills and confidence in oral 
communication, speechwriting and research. Each year, we 
coordinate the Victorian competition and the state winner 
attends the national final. The Victorian State Winner in 
2019 was An Dang, of Brunswick Secondary College.

The VCE Leadership Awards recognise VCE students who 
promote leadership and participation in their schools and 
wider communities. The awards celebrate students who 
demonstrate initiative, inspire others, work well in teams and 
are committed to making a difference. The overall leader for 
2019 was Lincoln Ingravalle, of Lavalla Catholic College.

The Margaret Schofield Memorial Scholarships are 
coordinated by the VCAA on behalf of the Margaret 
Schofield Memorial Trust. Two scholarship types were 
available to VCE students from government schools:

• Music Performance Scholarship, awarded to VCE Music 
Performance, Music Investigation and/or VCE VET 
Music students as soloists – in 2020 awarded to Mikaela 
Banitsiotis and Jessie Hillel, both students from Victorian 
College of the Arts Secondary School.

• Music Composition Scholarship, awarded to VCE 
Style and Composition, Music Investigation, Music 
Performance and/or VCE VET Music students – in 2020 
awarded to Samuel Stuchbery, who studied Music Style 
and Composition at Virtual School Victoria and attended 
Balwyn High School.

The VCAL Achievement Awards recognise outstanding 
achievements of young VCAL students, as well as those 
of VCAL teachers and partner organisations that have 
developed and delivered innovative VCAL programs. The 
VCAL Chair’s Award in 2020 was presented to Narelle 
Bean, Assistant Principal at Werribee Secondary College 
and teacher of the VCAL Senior Program.

Showcasing student talent – the VCE 
Season of Excellence
Showcasing the work of past VCE students is a feature of 
the Victorian education calendar – and keenly anticipated 
by current VCE students and teachers. 

Our VCE Season of Excellence festival again featured a 
sample of the most outstanding student works in design, 
technology, multimedia and the cinematic, visual and 
performing arts. Four VCE VET programs were included in 
Top Designs.

The Season was presented through exhibitions, screenings 
and performances in Melbourne’s major cultural venues 
and online offerings from February to June. It again set a 
benchmark for VCE assessment and curriculum.

We supported the showcase of achievement with 
education talks, forums and panel discussions, a catalogue, 
programs and online material. The Season is a cross-sectoral 
project, involving students from government, Catholic and 
independent schools. Staff from these three sectors are 
on the audition and selection panels.

This year’s program featured:

• 13 concerts (six live and seven online) through the Top 
Class concert series 

• two exhibitions, Top Designs and Top Arts, which 
presented works in design, technology, media and the 
visual arts 

• screenings of short films by Media students in Top Screen

• a forum featuring presentations by high performing 
Extended Investigation students in Top Talks.

In 2020 the Season expanded into digital spaces. In a win for 
accessibility, students and teachers across Victoria could view 
virtual tours of exhibitions, film programs, solo performances 
and exemplary folios from the comfort of their own homes. 
Educational resources for Top Designs, Top Class Drama and 
Theatre Studies, and Top Screen were also released, included 
discussion forums, podcasts and video profiles featuring 
exhibitors, performers and filmmakers.

The Season reflects our goal of providing high quality 
education, recognises student achievement and best-
practice teaching, and encourages students to move into 
allied work areas and further study.
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Cultural and linguistic diversity
Language is an exciting growth area in the curriculum in 
Victoria, with 48 language studies now offered at VCE level. 

This high number of languages choices at senior 
secondary level is supported by 19 Victorian Curriculum 
F–10 language curriculum documents. 

We provided ongoing support to schools implementing 
languages in the curriculum at both F–10 and senior 
secondary levels.

We also worked on several major initiatives that 
strengthened language teaching and increased 
opportunities for students across Victoria. 

In strengthening cultural links and heritage through 
developing language education, we presented professional 
learning lectures and workshops to teachers and educators 

for these stakeholders: 

• Ethnic Schools Association of Victoria (Community 
Languages Australia)

• Melbourne Graduate School of Education

• Modern Greek Teachers’ Association of Victoria 

• Modern Language Teachers’ Association of Victoria 

• RMIT Spanish Resource Centre and the Spanish 
Consulate

• Turkish Teachers’ Association of Victoria 

• Vietnamese Teachers Association of Victoria

• Victorian Association of Teachers of Spanish

• Victorian Indonesian Language Teachers’ Association

• Department of Education and Training. 

We were invited to present to other stakeholders; however 
after March 2020, face-to-face conferences were cancelled. 
At the time of completing this report, some were yet to be 
rescheduled. 

Other highlights included: 

• providing F–10 language-specific documentation for 20 
languages on the Victorian Curriculum F–10 website 

• managing a Languages Assessment project that was 
established and run in collaboration with ACER, which 
provides online F–10 Language tests in eight languages 
for teachers. We delivered a series of professional 
learning sessions and webinars to support teachers to 
use these online resources

• providing ongoing VCE curriculum and assessment 
support for community language providers through 
online professional development

• providing ongoing VCE curriculum and assessment 
support for providers wishing to obtain authorisation to 
deliver VCE Languages studies 

• providing ongoing professional development for VCE 
teachers delivering 12 revised second language studies, 
in the form of both face-to-face and online sessions. The 
12 revised VCE second language studies are:

– Arabic 

– Chinese Second Language

– Chinese Second Language Advanced

– French

– German

– Greek

– Indonesian Second Language

– Italian

– Japanese Second Language

– Korean Second Language

– Spanish

– Vietnamese Second Language

• supporting Victorian schools wanting to offer VET 
Certificate II and Certificate III courses in languages, 
including Chinese, French, German, Greek, Indonesian, 
Italian and Japanese at Years 9 to 12

• conducting seminars, webinars and workshops on 
strategies for teaching and assessing languages as part 
of the Victorian Curriculum F–10

• from March 2020, we responded to the COVID-19 
situation by delivering a specific professional learning 
webinar for F–10 language teachers delivering remote 
and flexible learning programs and a webinar for VCE 
teachers of languages, delivering an adjusted VCE study 
design in 2020 

• approving (through the Board) an application from the 
Bengali speaking community to reaccredit VCE Bengali, 
a VCE study that was suspended in 2005 due to low 
student enrolment numbers. The reactivated VCE 
Bengali study will be implemented at Units 1 and 2 level 
from 2021, and Units 3 and 4 level from 2022

• reviewing the VCE study designs for three Classical 
Language studies and five First Language studies, 
ensuring that they are contemporary, rigorous and meet 
the needs of students. These revised study designs will 
be implemented in 2022

• reviewing the VCE study design for innovative 
VCE Chinese Language Culture and Society, to be 
implemented in 2023

• developing resources to support the implementation 
of 12 VCE Language studies including examination 
specifications, sample examinations and assessment 
criteria. Videos explaining changes to the conduct of oral 
examinations for these studies were also released. 
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We coordinated the Collaborative Curriculum and 
Assessment Framework for Languages (CCAFL) project. This 
included delivering national senior secondary examinations 
for 26 small-candidature languages and initiating a major 
national review of the curriculum and assessment for 
these languages (including a national review of Auslan). 

We conducted workshops to help teachers of CCAFL 
languages to develop their language programs.

We also coordinated the annual national CCAFL conference 
in conjunction with the Queensland Curriculum and 
Assessment Authority (QCAA) in Brisbane, which drew 
representatives from all Australian states and territories. 

Victorian Aboriginal languages
The opportunities to learn Aboriginal languages continued 
to grow for students across Victoria, with 20 schools 
teaching languages at both primary and secondary levels. 

Victorian Aboriginal languages taught included Dhudhuroa, 
Yorta Yorta, Barkindji-Maraura, Dhauwurd Wurrung, 
Dhudhuroa, Gunai/Kurnai, Taungurung, Wemba Wemba 
and Woiwurrung.

More qualified language experts and teachers are 
becoming available as a result of our collaboration with the 
Department on an Aboriginal Languages Training Initiative. 
This program supports Koorie community members wishing 
to teach an Aboriginal language in a Victorian school. 

There is keen demand and support for these teachers to 
become part of Victoria’s Aboriginal languages program, 
which is already offered at:

• Albert Street Primary School (Moe)

• Boronia West Primary School

• Bright P–12 College 

• Bruthen Primary School 

• Buxton Primary School 

• Donald Primary School

• Gowrie Street Primary School (Shepparton)

• Harrietville Primary School 

• Healesville Primary School

• Heywood and District Secondary College 

• Koroit and District Primary School

• Lakes Entrance Primary School 

• Loch Sport Primary School

• Mildura Primary School 

• Noorat Primary School 

• Paynesville Primary School 

• Sebastopol Primary School 

• Thornbury Primary School 

• Wooragee Primary School

• Wurruk Primary School

Schools are using materials from our website and resources 
developed by several curriculum working groups as well 
as their local Language teams. To support new school 
programs, we have been developing introductory sample 
units of work in line with the Victorian Curriculum F–10. 
One focus of these units is on developing awareness of 
linguistic and cultural diversity locally, across Victoria, 
nationally and internationally.

We continued to provide ongoing VCE curriculum and 
assessment support and on site workshops for teachers 
delivering VCE Indigenous Languages of Victoria: Revival 
and Reclamation, and Victorian Aboriginal Languages 
(Victorian Curriculum F–10). 

We are currently reviewing the curriculum for VCE 
Indigenous Languages of Victoria: Revival and Reclamation, 
to be implemented in 2023. 

We have collaborated closely with key stakeholders, 
including on introducing Victorian Aboriginal Languages 
in early childhood programs. We have met regularly with 
representatives of the Victorian Aboriginal Education 
Association, the Victorian Aboriginal Corporation for 
Languages, and the Koorie Outcomes Division of the 
Department of Education and Training.

As Victoria’s appreciation of the richness of Aboriginal 
linguistic and cultural diversity continues to grow, we 
are providing strong support in the area of curriculum 
implementation and assessment of Victorian Aboriginal 
languages from the early years to senior secondary level in 
this vital area. 
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International program
Our international program continued to manage the 
delivery of the Victorian Certificate of Education in 
schools internationally and provide a pathway to tertiary 
study in Australia.

In 2019, 767 students completed the VCE offshore. 
Due to the impact of COVID-19 and travel restrictions 
to Australia we have been unable to obtain data on 
tertiary destinations of the 2019 cohort.  Data collected 
on intended pathways indicated that this was similar 
to previous years. In 2018, 94 per cent enrolled at an 
Australian tertiary institution. Sixty per cent were accepted 
into Group of Eight universities.

We partner with eight Victorian schools to deliver the VCE 
internationally. Twenty-nine schools delivered the VCE (25 in 
China and one each in Malaysia, Timor-Leste, Vanuatu and 
the Philippines). The VCE was delivered at one interstate 
school in the Northern Territory.

We also provided a moderation and equivalence service 
for the Year 12 examination papers at the Crawford 
Schools in South Africa. 

The VCE offshore school partnership model established 
strong partnerships between Victorian and international 
schools. We granted licences for six new VCE programs in 
China, one in Vietnam and for the first program in Sri Lanka. 

Nine international VCE programs delivered VCE studies on 
the Northern Hemisphere Timetable (NHT): eight in China 
and one in the Philippines. Eight Victorian schools deliver 
VCE studies on the Northern Hemisphere Timetable. A 
business case was developed to support NHT program 
funding submissions.

After a comprehensive review of the VCE offshore pricing 
model, a new model was introduced for 2020.

Our international program is a key component of delivering 
our vision to be a global education leader through offering 
products and services internationally. It also supports the 
Victorian Government’s International Education Sector 
Strategy and Victoria’s New China Strategy-Partnerships 
for Prosperity.

Future plans and challenges
We are set for another busy year in 2020–21, with these 
actions already identified in our work plans.

Early Years

• Deliver remote professional learning to support early 
childhood professionals in their introduction to and use 
of the Improving Teaching Skills for Early Childhood 
Education self-assessment tool.

• Establish partnerships across the Curriculum Division to 
document clear connections between the VEYLDF and 
the first three levels of the Victorian Curriculum F–10.

• Manage the final stages of the VEYLDF implementation 
evaluation, including communication of the final 
report to the sector, and develop communication 
and engagement strategies based on the evaluation 
recommendations to further support implementation.

• Continue to support targeted distribution of printed 
resources across the early childhood sector.

• Continue to extend our sector engagement with a series 
of remote professional learning Twilight Webinars to 
promote VCAA resources.

Victorian Curriculum F–10

• Conduct research into the gap between teachers’ 
intentions in enacting the VEYLDF in early childhood 
education and care and the first three levels of the 
Victorian Curriculum F–10 in schools.

• Publish the complete set of indicative progress examples 
as stimulus to support teachers during the curriculum 
planning phase to articulate learning progression along 
the continuum.

• Develop examples for whole-school curriculum planning 
for special schools to support high-quality curriculum 
planning in these settings.

• Release the existing Critical and Creative Thinking tasks 
to support teachers to assess students’ learning and 
progression along the curriculum continuum.

• Develop and annotate work samples to assist teachers 
to develop a shared understanding of the standards and 
moderate work at the local level.

• Develop more sample teaching and learning resources, 
providing ideas about teaching and learning strategies 
and assessment approaches.

• Publish Intercultural Capability case studies and work 
samples.

• Continue making professional development opportunities 
available to achieve deeper exploration of the curriculum 
and examine implications for curriculum planning and 
implementation, including assessment.

• Monitor and evaluate the Victorian Curriculum F–10.
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NAPLAN

• Collaborate with ACARA to roll out NAPLAN Online in 
2021, including a readiness test.

• Release a renewed NAPLAN data service to support the 
reporting requirements for NAPLAN Online.

• Closely support schools conducting testing online. 

Digital Assessment Library

• Release the next phase of the library with English and 
Mathematics assessments for use in schools.

• Release a set of Critical and Creative Thinking tasks 
to support teachers to assess students’ learning and 
progression along the curriculum continuum.

• Support schools to effectively use online formative 
assessments to complement their teaching and learning 
approaches.

• Continue development and trialling of assessment items.

• Refine the online platform’s functionality based on 
feedback from schools.

• Continue expansion of the assessments available within 
the Digital Assessment Library both in learning area 
coverage and quantity to support Victorian teachers to 
measure student learning.

VCE
• Implement revised VCE studies: Foundation English (Units 

1 and 2), Applied Computing: Data Analytics and Software 
Development, and Agricultural and Horticultural Studies. 

• Finalise the review of and deliver professional 
learning for VCE studies being implemented in 2022: 
Biology, Bridging English as an Additional Language, 
Environmental Science, Geography, History and 
Languages: Chinese First Language, Classical 
Greek, Classical Hebrew, Indonesian First Language, 
Japanese First Language, Korean First Language, Latin, 
Vietnamese First Language. The VCE studies that were 
revised in 2019–20 and due to be implemented in 2021 
will have their implementation delayed by 12 months. 

• Publish Advice for Teachers in digital format on our website 
for VCE studies being implemented in 2022: Biology, 
Bridging English as an Additional Language, Environmental 
Science, Geography, History and Languages: Bengali, 
Chinese First Language, Classical Greek, Classical 
Hebrew, Indonesian First Language, Japanese First 
Language, Korean First Language, Latin, Vietnamese 
First Language. Undertake the review of VCE studies 
being implemented in 2023: Algorithmics (HESS), Art, 
Business Management, Chemistry, Chinese Language, 
Culture and Society, Economics, English and English 
as an Additional Language, Food Studies, Indigenous 
Languages of Victoria: Revival and Reclamation, Literature, 
Mathematics, Music, Physics, Psychology, Religion and 
Society, Studio Arts and Texts and Traditions.

• Develop and trial items for the redeveloped GAT for new 
literacy and numeracy reporting from 2021.

• Continue implementation of the online application 
system for Special Examinations Arrangements for VCE 
students, which was introduced at the start of 2020.

VET

• Continue providing training to schools interested 
in starting Structured Workplace Learning (SWL) 
recognition for VET within the VCE and VCAL and 
develop support material as required.

• Conduct approximately 100 VCE VET School-assessed 
Coursework audits with particular emphasis on the 
implementation of the revised coursework rules.

• Support the Department to implement reforms to  
school-based apprenticeships and traineeships and 
reforms to VET as a result of the Review into Vocational and 
Applied Learning Pathways in Senior Secondary Schools.

• Resume the Assessment of VET project with RMIT to 
provide exemplary models of VET assessment for use by 
teachers of all VCE VET programs.

• Conduct reviews of up to 11 VCE VET programs in line 
with Training Package endorsement by the Australian 
Industry Skills Committee.

• Complete video production campaign for Get VET and 
continue production of print and online resources to roll 
out to schools.

VCAL

• Lead recommended reforms as developed from the 
Review into Vocational and Applied Learning Pathways 
in Senior Secondary Schools.

• Continue annual briefings across the state, focusing 
on curriculum developments and creating professional 
learning opportunities for all VCAL providers.
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Summary of financial results 
The Victorian Government considers the net result 
from transactions to be the appropriate measure of 
financial management that can be directly attributed to 
government policy.

The results for 2019–20 have been influenced by the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  In particular, expenditure reduced in 
the final months of the year, where activity was impacted by 
COVID-19 restrictions. 

The VCAA recorded a net surplus of $3.6 million in 
2019–20.  This compares with a surplus of $8.5 million 
in 2018–19. The net results for the last three years have 
been influenced by the receipt of additional funding from 
government for projects where expenditure is expected in 
subsequent years.

In 2019–20 income totalled $74.9 million, a decrease 
of $12.2 million from the previous year. Government 
funding decreased by $8.7 million, primarily as a result of 
additional funding in 2018–19 including the transition to 
NAPLAN Online.  

Expenses from transactions for 2019–20 decreased by 
$7.3 million to $71.3 million compared to the prior year. 
This result was influenced by the decision to not proceed 
with NAPLAN in May 2020 and the decision to defer the 
GAT until later in the 2020 school year.

Financial assets remained stable at 30 June 2020, while 
financial liabilities reduced by $5.1 million when compared 
to the prior year.

The following table provides a summary of financial 
information for 2019–20 and comparison with prior years. 

2019–2020 2018–2019 2017–2018 2016–2017 2015–2016

$,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Government funding 68,291 76,979 69,014 52,056 49,880

Other income 6,633 10,119 8,708 8,296 6,881

Total income from transactions 74,924 87,097 77,722 60,352 56,761

Total expenses from transactions 71,309 78,611 65,155 59,732 56,792

Net result from transactions 3,615 8,486 12,567 620 (32)

Net result for the period 3,615 8,486 12,567 620 (32)

Net cash flows from operations (397) 11,139 14,844 1,242 1,774

Financial assets 36,816 36,850 26,587 13,379 12,618

Total assets 38,708 40,198 29,489 15,217 13,756

Total liabilities 6,187 11,291 9,069 7,364 6,523
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS – GOVERNANCE 
AND ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Ministers
The VCAA is primarily accountable to the Minister for 
Education, the Hon. James Merlino MP, Deputy Premier 
and Minister for Education. It is also responsible to the 
Minister for Training and Skills.

Deputy Premier and Minister for Education –  
The Hon. James Merlino, MP

Deputy Premier Merlino was elected to the Victorian 
Parliament as the Member for Monbulk in 2002. He has 
been the Minister for Education since December 2014. He 
previously served as the Minister for Sport, Recreation and 
Youth Affairs from December 2006 to December 2010, 
Minister Assisting the Premier on Multicultural Affairs from 
August 2007 to December 2010 and Minister for Police and 
Minister for Corrections from October to December 2010.

The Minister for Education oversees Victoria’s Education 
State reforms and is responsible for providing schooling 
to over 988,000 Victorian students. This portfolio includes 
government investment in early childhood education and 
school infrastructure and programs.

Minister for Higher Education and Minister for Training 
and Skills – The Hon. Gayle Tierney, MP 

Minister Tierney was elected to the Victorian Parliament as 
the Member for Western Victoria in 2006. She has been the 
Minister for Training and Skills since November 2016 and 
Minister for Higher Education since November 2018. She was 
Minister for Corrections from November 2016 to December 
2018. Minister Tierney previously served as the Cabinet 
Secretary and Deputy President of the Victorian Legislative 
Council. She was Deputy Chair of the Rural and Regional 
Parliamentary Committee from March 2007 to November 
2010, and Deputy Chair of the Education and Training 
Parliamentary Committee from February 2010 to June 2013. 

The Minister for Training and Skills is responsible for 
ensuring Victoria’s VET system plays a key role in achieving 
the economic and social objectives of government, 
industry, local communities and individual learners.  

The Minister for Higher Education administers legislation that 
establishes Victoria’s eight public universities, their governing 
bodies and accountability requirements. The Minister is also 
responsible for developing policy related to higher education 
in Victoria and representing Victorian universities and higher 
education providers within government.

VCAA Board
Chris Wardlaw PSM, BEc (Hons), DipEd,  
Chair, VCAA Board

Chris Wardlaw held Deputy Secretary roles in education 
in Hong Kong (2002–08) and Victoria (2009–13) before 
retiring. In the Hong Kong Government, Chris was 
responsible for curriculum, assessment and quality 
assurance for pre-primary, basic education and senior 
secondary education. In Victoria, he was responsible for 
strategy and review across the portfolio.

Before his time in Hong Kong, Chris had a long career in 
Victorian education, during which he took a leading role in 
major reforms supporting school-level decision-making, 
evaluation and review.

He taught economics and history at university and secondary 
levels before moving into educational administration.

Chris received an Australian Sports Medal in 2000 and the 
Public Service Medal in the 2013 Queen’s Birthday Honours 
list. He was made a Fellow of Monash University in 2013.

He is Director of the Board of Athletics Australia and 
Deputy Chair of the Australian Institute for Teaching and 
School Leadership.

Jenny Atta B App Sc, MA Public Policy, Secretary, 
Department of Education and Training

Jenny Atta has been Secretary of the Department of 
Education and Training since March 2019 and prior to this 
Acting Secretary from November 2018.

Jenny is directly responsible for the management of the 
Department and for ensuring the education and training 
portfolio Ministers are supported in the management and 
administration of their portfolios.

Jenny joined the Department in December 2015 as Deputy 
Secretary, Infrastructure and Finance Services Group. In 
this role, she was responsible for the management and 
oversight of the Department’s financial, procurement and 
information technology services, along with strategic advice 
and planning for State Budget processes, and infrastructure 
policy and delivery.

This followed a range of senior roles in the Victorian Public 
Service (VPS), including with the Department of Treasury 
and Finance (DTF) and the Department of Human Services 
(DHS).

Jenny holds a Bachelor degree in Applied Science and a 
Master of Public Policy.
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Professor Marcia Devlin BA, DipEd, GradDip 
AppPsych, MEd, PhD

Professor Marcia Devlin is the Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
and Professor of Learning Enhancement at Victoria 
University in Melbourne. Holding qualifications in primary 
and secondary teaching and a PhD in Education, she is 
also a registered psychologist. She has worked in tertiary 
education for 30 years and is internationally recognised for 
her expertise in the quality of learning and teaching and in 
student retention and success.

A graduate member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, Professor Devlin sits on a number of 
education-related boards. 

Catherine Dillon BEd, MEd, GradDip EdStudies, 
MACEL

Catherine Dillon holds the position of Deputy Director, 
Learning and Teaching with Catholic Education Office 
Sandhurst. Previously she was Manager, Leadership and 
School Development with Catholic Education Melbourne 
from 2015 to 2017. 

This followed school leadership roles as Principal of Mount 
St Joseph Girls’ College, Altona (2008–15) and Deputy 
Principal of Catholic Regional College, Sydenham (2006–08). 
She is a registered teacher with 25 years’ experience in the 
Catholic education sector. 

Her current role focuses on leading school effectiveness and 
system improvement to maximise student learning growth.

Catherine is also currently serving as Board Chair of Lord 
Somers Camp and Power House, a youth development, 
leadership and community service organisation.

Professor Wayne Hodgson BSc, PhD, 
GradCertHighEd

Professor Wayne Hodgson is Deputy Dean (Education) 
for the Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences 
at Monash University. In this role he is responsible for 
overseeing the faculty’s undergraduate and postgraduate 
coursework programs in Australia and overseas.

Professor Hodgson is a past winner of the faculty’s Jubilee 
Teaching Prize and continues to teach pharmacology to 
students in a range of courses. He has a keen interest in 
research examining the relationship between admissions 
criteria and subsequent performance at university, 
and widening access to courses for students from 
underserved populations.

Professor Hodgson is an internationally renowned 
pharmacologist who specialises in toxinology (the study of 
toxins produced by living organisms). His laboratory has 
been responsible for characterising a wide range of animal 
venoms and associated toxins. He serves on a number of 
editorial boards of scientific journals.

Seir Holley BECS (Bachelor of Early Childhood 
Studies), GradDipEd (Prim), GradDipTESOL 

Seir Holley is Assistant Principal at Keilor Heights 
Primary School and has extensive experience teaching in 
kindergartens and primary schools in the western suburbs 
of Melbourne. Seir has taken on various leadership roles 
including instructional and pedagogical coach, and is 
currently leading a school improvement team.

Seir is the elected Deputy Vice President (Primary Sector) 
of the Victorian Branch of the Australian Education Union 
(since 2015). She is passionate about public education 
and believes all students, irrespective of the school they 
attend, where they live or their socio-economic status, have 
an entitlement to a high-quality education and a genuine 
opportunity to succeed.

Catharine Hydon DipT (EC), MEd (EC)

With over 30 years’ experience practising, leading and 
advocating in early childhood education, Catharine Hydon is 
the Principal Consultant and Director at Hydon Consulting.  
Catharine has extensive experience in the early childhood 
sector, from a teacher in a kindergarten program in the 
northern suburbs of Melbourne, to lead roles in a range of 
services and projects for children and their families, including 
with the Brotherhood of St Laurence.

Catharine has a Master’s degree in Early Childhood 
Education from Monash University that focused on policy 
and governance, the delivery of integrated early years’ 
services to engage vulnerable children and their families.  
Amongst other pursuits Catharine is a long-time member 
of Early Childhood Australia (ECA) currently serving as the 
Co-chair of the Reconciliation Advisory Group and is a 
regular contributor in ECA publications. Catharine has been 
a member of the ECA Code of Ethics working group for the 
last two reviews and is a co-author of the recently published 
Ethics in Action implementation guide and has recently 
been appointed as a second-tier reviewer for Australian 
Children’s Education & Care Quality Authority. 

Aayushi Khillan

Aayushi Khillan is an innovative leader with a passion for 
youth advocacy on a national and international scale. At the 
age of 19, she participated in many international health and 
educational missions to support struggling communities 
with organisations such as UN Youth Australia. Locally, 
Aayushi was part of the Victorian Student Representative 
Council (VicSRC) executive team in 2017–18. Aayushi 
applied for the Board member position following VCAA 
engagement with VicSRC to identify a suitable youth voice. 
She is also currently a Community Engagement Officer at 
Oaktree Foundation and has represented Australia at the 
Youth Assembly in New York 2020. She has remained a 
key member of the education sector by providing volunteer 
tutoring and support to young VCE students. 

Aayushi is also an aspiring academic. After completing VCE 
at The Mac.Robertson Girls’ High School in 2018, she is 
now studying a Bachelor of Biomedicine as a Chancellor’s 
Scholar at the University of Melbourne. In 2020, she was 
also a recipient of the Walter and Eliza Hall Metcalf Research 
Scholarship offered to highly capable students. She will 
have the privilege to work alongside renowned Australian 
researchers to tackle global health issues.
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For her various commendable endeavours, Aayushi was a 
Semi-Finalist for the 7News Young Achievers Leadership 
Award in Victoria in 2020. She is a driven young leader who 
hopes to bring an authoritative youth voice to the board 
and become a driving force for change.

Dr Toni Meath DEd, MEd (Melb), BEd (Syd) FACEL, 
MAID

Dr Toni Meath holds the position of Principal of Melbourne 
Girls Grammar School. She is an experienced Principal and 
educational leader, passionate about the importance of 
using critical thinking and problem solving in student-centred 
pedagogical approaches as ways to prepare students for 
success in their future world.

Dr Meath has been invited to national and international 
forums on a regular basis to speak on a range of topics 
including school innovation, improvement strategies, girls’ 
and gifted education, student voice, critical thinking and 
pedagogy.

Before becoming Principal of Melbourne Girls Grammar, Dr 
Meath led The Mac.Robertson Girls’ High School, Victoria’s 
highest performing academic school, for six years.

Peter Moore DipT, BEd, MRE, GradCertRE, FACEL 
(Vic)

Peter Moore is Principal of St Monica’s Catholic Primary 
School, Moonee Ponds, and was Principal of Our Lady of 
Immaculate Conception School, Sunshine 2003–12. He 
is a registered teacher and has 30 years’ experience in 
the Catholic primary school sector as a teacher, Deputy 
Principal and Principal.

For the past decade, Peter has been the volunteer Chief 
Executive Officer of Melbourne Overseas Missions, a 
humanitarian organisation assisting communities in 
developing countries.

Russell Pettis MAppSc, FAIM

Russell Pettis was Chief Executive Officer of DENSO 
Automotive Systems Australia, where he worked for 19 years. 
He was responsible for the early implementation of the 
Certificate of Automotive Manufacturing at DENSO Australia. 
Russell previously worked in the aerospace industry in 
manufacturing management roles with the Commonwealth 
Aircraft Corporation and at Aerospace Technologies Australia. 

Russell completed his term on 4 July 2019. 

Andrée Poulter BA, DipEd, GCertTESOL

Andrée Poulter has been involved in education for more 
than 30 years. Andrée was Director of Curriculum at Melton 
Secondary College until taking up a position in June as Student 
Achievement Manager in the South Western Victoria Region.

Andree completed her term on 4 July 2019.

Claire Rasmussen MEd, BA, GradDipEd (Secondary), 
GradCertEd (Educational Leadership), DipPM, Cert IV 
Training and Assessment

Claire Rasmussen holds the position of Chief Academic 
Officer at Bendigo Kangan Institute, where she is 
responsible for the implementation of strategic educational 
delivery objectives that support student engagement, 
retention and success across all programs. Claire has 
extensive experience in teaching and learning in the 
secondary, VET and Higher Education sectors and more 
than 25 years’ involvement in education regionally and 
nationally.

Claire completed her term on 30 April 2020.

Professor Mark Rose PhD, MEdAdmin, BA, DipT

Professor Mark Rose is traditionally linked to the 
Gunditjmara Nation of Western Victoria. He has a 
40-year career in education, contributing to a broad 
range of educational settings in Victoria, nationally and 
internationally. Professor Rose is currently Pro –Vice 
Chancellor Indigenous Strategy and Innovation at Deakin 
University. In ministerially appointed arrangements, 
Professor Rose advised ministers Nelson, Bishop, Gillard 
and Garrett, co-chaired the Royal Commission into 
Aboriginal Deaths in Custody Review, and sat on numerous 
government taskforces. 

He is involved with the United Nations Permanent Forum 
on Indigenous Issues in New York and is a delegate to 
the former National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples. 
He is Vice-President of the Victorian Aboriginal Education 
Association Incorporated and chairs the Indigenous 
advisory group of ACARA and is Chair of the Koorie 
Academy of Excellence

Professor Emeritus Kaye Stacey BSc (Hons), MSc, 
DPhil, DipEd, FaustMS

Emeritus Professor Kaye Stacey is one of Australia’s 
leading mathematics education experts with a strong 
international reputation. She has worked as a researcher 
in education, as a primary and secondary teacher 
educator and a supervisor of graduate research and is an 
adviser to governments. She has written many practically 
orientated books and articles for mathematics teachers 
and is especially interested in the challenges in adapting 
curriculum and assessment to the new technological 
environment, and in all aspects of STEM education.
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Senior executives
Chief Executive Officer, Sharyn Donald 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to the VCAA 
Board for all policy and operational matters and to the 
Secretary of the Department of Education and Training for 
budgetary, personnel and other administrative matters. 

Sharyn commenced as Chief Executive Officer in January 
2020. Prior to joining us, Sharyn was the Assistant Deputy 
Secretary, Schools, in the Department of Education and 
Training. Sharyn is a life-long educator having been a 
teacher and principal and also holding several leadership 
roles within the Queensland Department of Education 
and Training before moving to Victoria in 2016 as the 
Regional Director for South Western Victoria Region in the 
Department of Education and Training. Passionate about 
ensuring a high-quality education for all children and young 
people, irrespective of circumstances, Sharyn holds a 
Bachelor of Human Movement Studies (Education) from the 
University of Queensland and a Master of Education from 
the Queensland University of Technology.

Executive Director, Assessment and Reporting, Joe 
Pellegrino

The Executive Director, Assessment and Reporting is 
responsible for policies and procedures associated with 
assessment, certification, analysis and reporting of student 
achievement, and for coordinating the division’s work 
programs, including the strategic redevelopment of the 
VCAA’s assessment technology.

The division collects and processes student enrolment and 
assessment data, manages the Victorian Student Register, 
and conducts measurement activities.

Joe Pellegrino previously held the position of Director, 
Assessment Centre at VCAA from 2007 and before that 
the role of Manager, P–10 Assessment. Joe has worked as 
an English and Media teacher and had close involvement 
with early development of the VCE Media study design, 
in curriculum and assessment development, teacher 
professional development, multimedia project management, 
and literacy and numeracy testing.

Director, Assessment Centre, Justin Seabury

The Director, Assessment Centre is responsible for 
assessment programs, assessment services and assessment 
operations business units located at the VCAA Assessment 
Centre, Coburg.

The business units are responsible for, or play a significant 
role in, implementation and assessment of all VCE 
examinations, the National Assessment Program – Literacy 
and Numeracy (NAPLAN) tests, selective entry high 
school testing, On Demand testing, Education State target 
assessments and the General Achievement Test (GAT). 
The Director is also responsible for recruiting and training 
of sessional marking staff (including written, performance 
and language assessments) and managing the VCAA 
Assessment Centre, which provides facilities to support 
Assessment Division operations.

Justin Seabury was previously the manager of the 
Assessment Operations Unit, which has direct responsibility 
for the overall delivery and marking of VCE external 
assessments, including overseeing the VCAA’s Special 

Provision policy and procedures. Justin had managed the 
unit since 2010 and was previously manager of the Student 
Records and Results Unit.

Executive Director, Curriculum, Suzy Chandler

The Executive Director, Curriculum is responsible for the 
operations of the Curriculum Division, which includes 
leadership of Early Years project teams, the Victorian 
Curriculum F–10 Steering Committee, the Vocational 
Education Reference Group and the VCE Study Review 
and Examination Setting panels, as well as the Curriculum 
and Assessment Committees of the VCAA Board. These 
groups and committees provide the VCAA with advice and 
recommendations on development, implementation and 
monitoring of early childhood learning and development, 
the Victorian Curriculum F–10, the VCE and VCAL, 
including VET programs and setting VCE examinations.

Suzy Chandler was the Principal of Fintona Girls School 
from 2006 to 2017. She was Vice Principal of Westbourne 
Grammar School from 2000 to 2006 and taught at 
Camberwell Grammar from 1995 to 2000, Scotch College 
from 1993 to 1994, and Yeshivah College from 1987 to 
1992. Her early career was spent in Education Department 
schools. She also served on the committees of a number of 
community groups and has been the Mayoress of Prahran 
and Stonnington where her husband has been a local 
councillor for 35 years. Suzy is a member of the Australian 
College of Educators, and a Fellow of the Australian Council 
for Educational Leaders. She is a supporter of the Northern 
Territory Danila Dilba Health Service, a non-government 
organisation that provides primary care to the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples of the greater Darwin area. 

Executive Director, Infrastructure and Business 
Services, Cameron Hill

The Executive Director, Infrastructure and Business 
Services is responsible for providing support and 
information services to the community and supporting 
VCAA business operations including finance, human 
resources, governance, legal services, information 
technology infrastructure, assurance and improvement, 
communications, planning and international.

Cameron Hill is a Certified Practising Accountant and has 
worked at executive and management level in several 
public sector entities.

Acting Director, Examinations, Barbara Elvin

The Director, Examinations leads the development and 
production of VCE examinations and related materials 
including examination specifications, sample examination 
materials, examination reports and alternative format 
examination papers. 

Barbara Elvin has direct responsibility for the examination 
development process for the Victorian and Northern 
Hemisphere Timetable VCE Examinations. Barbara has led 
the Examinations unit since late 2019 and was previously 
manager of the Student Records and Results Unit. Before 
commencing with the VCAA Barbara was a secondary 
school principal with a long career in government schools.
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Committees of the VCAA Board

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee established under section 2.5.7 
of the Act comprises the Chair Chris Wardlaw, the Chief 
Executive Officer Sharyn Donald and Board members 
Peter Moore, Professor Marcia Devlin and Professor Wayne 
Hodgson.

Audit Committee

The committee comprised Board members Professor 
Marcia Devlin, Catherine Dillon, Claire Rasmussen (all acted 
as a rotating chair) and independent external members 
Stuart Alford, Jan Fitzgerald and Trevor Plowman. Russell 
Pettis had previously been chair and completed his term as 
Audit Committee Chair in June 2019. 

The committee assists the VCAA in fulfilling its monitoring 
and oversight responsibilities, and in the independent 
review and assessment of the effectiveness of its systems 
and controls.

The oversight responsibilities include financial management, 
risk management, performance and sustainability, 
and the internal audit function and audit activities. The 
Education and Training Reform Act 2006 and the Financial 
Management Act 1994 guide the Committee in its 
compliance accountabilities and responsibilities.

Early Years–10 Curriculum and 
Assessment Committee

The committee comprised Board members Peter Moore 
(Chair), Catherine Dillon, Professor Wayne Hodgson, 
Pauline Jelleff, Chris Wardlaw and external members Kim 
Little, Catharine Hydon, Coralee Pratt, Debra Punton and 
Helen Schiele.

The committee gives advice to the VCAA and makes 
recommendations on:

• policies, criteria and standards for curriculum and 
assessment for the Early Years to Year 10

• relationship between VEYLDF and F–10 curriculum, and 
the F–10 curriculum and the senior secondary pathways 
in education and training, including the VCE, VETiS and 
VCAL

• administration of the NAPLAN program (Years 3, 5, 7 
and 9)

• monitoring and reporting of student participation and 
performance in Early Years to 10 assessment programs

• provision of materials for schools and early childhood 
settings, and of professional development for teachers 
and educators, to support the implementation of Early 
Years to Year 10 curriculum and assessment programs

• research on matters relating to Early Years to Year 10 
curriculum, standards and assessment at a national and 
international level.

Senior Secondary Curriculum and 
Assessment Committee

The committee comprised Board members Catherine Dillon 
(Chair), Professor Wayne Hodgson, Aayushi Khillan, Claire 
Rasmussen, Professor Emeritus Kaye Stacey and Chris 
Wardlaw and external members Cameron Baker, Jeremy 
Beard, Nick Beckingsale, Simon Lindsay, Jackie Macreadie, 
Megan O’Connell and Jane Trewin.

The committee gives advice to the VCAA and makes 
recommendations on:

• the development, evaluation and approval of curriculum 
and assessment designed to be undertaken in the senior 
secondary years

• policy and procedures for the design, delivery and 
evaluation of curriculum and assessment products and 
services for the VCE and VCAL

• patterns of participation and quality of outcomes relating 
to courses of study in the senior secondary years

• research on matters relating to senior secondary 
curriculum and assessment.

Review Committees

These committees consist of three members, one of 
whom must be a Board member and committee Chair. A 
review committee is established only when required, and is 
responsible for:

• hearing student appeals against decisions by their 
school, and any penalties imposed, in respect of 
contraventions of VCAA assessment rules relating to 
school-based assessments

• conducting hearings into allegations that students have 
contravened the VCAA examination rules or obtained 
an assessment by fraudulent, illegal or unfair means and 
imposing penalties where appropriate in accordance 
with the requirements of the Education and Training 
Reform Act 2006 (Vic). Penalties range from reprimands 
to amending or cancelling students’ grades.

International Committee

The comprised the Board members Professor Wayne 
Hodgson (Chair) and Chris Wardlaw, CEO Sharyn Donald, 
and external members Joel Backwell, Jennifer Bahen, Bill 
Damachis, Mona Chung and Georgina McCann.

The committee advises the Board and makes 
recommendations on policy, strategy and operational matters 
on VCAA international activities and engagement, including:

• assessing applications from schools to deliver VCE 
offshore

• licensing VCAA products and services for use overseas

• risk management and quality assurance related to VCE 
offshore delivery

• aligning VCAA international activities with VCAA, 
government policy and strategy objectives.
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Organisational structure (at 30 June 2020)

Minister for Education 
The Hon. James Merlino MP

Victorian Curriculum and 
Assessment Authority*

Chris Wardlaw 
Chair

Department of Education 
and Training

Jenny Atta 
Secretary

Suzy Chandler 
Executive Director 

Curriculum

Joe Pellegrino 
Executive Director 

Assessment and Reporting

Barbara Elvin 
Acting Director 
Examinations

Justin Seabury 
Director 

Assessment Centre

Cameron Hill 
Executive Director 
Infrastructure and  
Business Services

Sharyn Donald 
Chief Executive Officer

VCAA staff
On 30 June 2020 there were 211.6 Victorian public service 
(DET) employees working at the VCAA, and during the 
period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020, the VCAA employed 
4770 people on a casual/sessional basis.

* The VCAA also reports to the Minister for Training and Skills in relation to relevant provisions in the Education and Training Reform Act 
2006 (Vic) administered by this Minister.
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Our corporate commitments

Gender equality

We are committed to promoting gender equality in 
communication with schools and within our workforce. 
We develop educational programs that remain fair and 
accessible to all and ensure commitment to equity and 
diversity at all times.

Working with the community

We ensure that the diverse nature of Australian society is 
reflected in all aspects of our operations. We are strongly 
committed to the principles set out in Victoria’s Multicultural 
Policy Statement entitled Victorian. And proud of it.

We are committed to valuing, respecting and meeting 
the needs of Victoria’s culturally and linguistically diverse 
communities, as well as those of women, young people 
and Koorie people.

People with disability

We are committed to improving accessible outcomes in 
curriculum, assessment, consultation, information and 
communication, employment, and physical access to 
facilities. We are guided by the disability policies of the 
Department and Acts relating to the State Disability Plan 
2018–2021 for the whole of the Victorian Government. We 
are committed to raising staff awareness of disability and, in 
partnership with the community, achieving greater inclusion. 
In managing examinations, we ensure all students have 
equitable access to facilities. 

Social procurement strategy

The VCAA has adopted the DET Social Procurement 
Strategy and includes information relating to Victoria’s 
Social Procurement Framework in all Invitations to Supply 
(ITS) requests released to the market.  Suppliers are 
required to demonstrate how they will deliver against 
Social Procurement Commitments as well as provide a 
commitment to the achievement of positive environmental 
outcomes through sustainable procurement practices.  
For major projects, a minimum of 5 per cent of the 
weighted score is provided to preference businesses 
whose general business practices support one or more 
social and sustainable objectives.
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS – 
WORKFORCE DATA

Occupational health and safety
The VCAA’s occupational health and safety objectives are 
to:

·	 prevent injury/illness from occurring in the 
workplace

·	 maintain the health and wellbeing of all staff

·	 comply with all statutory requirements of Acts and 
Regulations, codes of practice and standards.

To fulfil these objectives, the VCAA:

·	 proactively ensures that the workplace is safe and 
without risk to health

·	 monitors the health and wellbeing of the 
employees and conducts risk assessments of the 
work environment

·	 assists occupational health and safety 
representatives to maintain their knowledge and 
keep abreast of any legislative changes to the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004

·	 develops and applies occupational health and 
safety policies, procedures and practices. 

Major initiatives in 2019–20 included:

·	 following Victorian Government directives to 
implement remote working for health and safety of 
staff at all sites and actively encouraging staff to 
report all occupational health and safety issues

·	 continuing to review and upgrade the skills of first 
aid officers

·	 maintaining the knowledge level of wardens 
through practical drills.

During the reporting period, no new claims were received 
by the VCAA, and no Improvement or Prohibition Notices 
were issued to the VCAA.

Merit training

Seven VCAA staff completed accreditation training during 
the reporting period. Eighty-eight current staff have trained 
in merit-based selection procedures.

A merit protection-accredited person is required to be 
included on all recruitment selection panels.

Industrial relations
No time was lost due to industrial action during 2019–2020.
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Workforce data
 
Full-time equivalent (FTE) staffing trends 

Year 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

FTE 211.6 218.2 189.9 177.8 173.5 178.1

Summary of employment levels in June 2019 and 2020

All employees Ongoing Fixed Term
Casual 

employees

Headcount FTE
Full-time 

headcount
Part-time 

headcount
FTE Headcount FTE Headcount

June 2020 222 211.6 167 32 190.2 23 21.4 38

June 2019 230 218.2 164 29 185.3 37 32.9 80

Annual total salary, by $20,000 bands, for executives and other senior non-executive staff

Income band (salary $) Executives STS PS SMA SRA Other

< 160,000

160,000 – 179,999

180,000 – 199,999 1 1

200,000 – 219,999 1 1

220,000 – 239,999 1

240,000 – 259,999

260,000 – 279,999

280,000 – 299,999 1

300,000 – 319,999 1

Total 5 2
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The following table discloses the head count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all active public service employees, employed in the last full pay period in June of the current reporting period, and in the last full pay 
period in June (2019) of the previous reporting period (2019). 

Victorian Public 
Service

June 2020 June 2019

All employees Ongoing Fixed term
Casual 

employees
All employees Ongoing Fixed term 

Casual 
employees

Headcount FTE
Full-time 

(headcount)
Part-time 

(headcount)
FTE Headcount FTE Headcount Headcount FTE

Full-time 
(headcount)

Part-time 
(headcount)

FTE Headcount FTE Headcount

De
m

og
ra

ph
ic

 d
at

a

Gender

Women 142 133.2 100 27 119.8 15 13.4 23 154 143.7 101 28 122.1 25 21.6 54

Men 80 78.4 67 5 70.4 8 8.0 15 76 74.5 63 1 63.2 12 11.3 26

Self-
described

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Age

Under 25 - - - - - - - 1 1.0 - - - 1 1.0

25-34 17 16.4 10 3 12.4 4 4.0 23 22.7 18 1 18.8 4 3.9

35-44 51 49.9 39 6 43.9 6 6.0 57 53.0 32 11 40.3 14 12.7

45-54 75 70.2 54 14 63.9 7 6.3 66 62.7 48 8 54.0 10 8.7

55-64 60 57.5 51 3 52.4 6 5.1 64 60.8 53 4 55.2 7 5.6

Over 64 19 17.6 13 6 17.6 - - 19 18.0 13 5 17.0 1 1.0

Cl
as

si
fic

at
io

n 
da

ta

VPSG1-6 215 204.6 160 32 183.2 23 21.4 223 211.2 157 29 178.3 37 32.9

VPSG1 - - - - - - - 1 1.0 - - - 1 1.0

VPSG2 9 7.9 7 2 7.9 - - 10 8.7 7 2 7.9 1 0.8

VPSG3 46 41.9 24 13 33.6 9 8.3 47 43.7 29 11 37.2 7 6.5

VPSG4 29 27.7 24 3 25.7 2 2.0 32 30.1 25 4 27.6 3 2.5

VPSG5 83 80.2 65 10 73.1 8 7.1 86 81.8 59 9 66.1 18 15.7

VPSG6 48 46.9 40 4 42.9 4 4.0 47 45.9 37 3 39.5 7 6.4

Senior 
Employees

7 7.0 7 - 7.0 - - 7 7.0 7 - 7.0 - -

STS 2 2.0 2 - 2.0 - - 2 2.0 2 - 2.0 - -

SES 5 5.0 5 - 5.0 - - 5 5.0 5 - 5.0 - -

Total 
employees

222 211.6 167 32 190.2 23 21.4 38 230 218.2 164 29 185.3 37 32.9 80

The VCAA also engaged 4770 employees on a sessional basis throughout the year.
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS – OTHER 
DISCLOSURES AND ATTESTATIONS

Local Jobs First
The Local Jobs First Act 2003 brings together the Victorian 
Industry Participation Policy (VIPP) and Major Project Skills 
Guarantee (MPSG) policy. 

Departments and public sector bodies must apply the 
Local Jobs First policy in all projects valued at $3 million or 
more in metropolitan Melbourne or for statewide projects, 
or $1 million or more for projects in regional Victoria. 

MPSG applies to all construction projects valued at $20 
million or more. 

The MPSG guidelines and VIPP guidelines will continue to 
apply to MPSG-applicable and VIPP-applicable projects 
respectively where contracts have been entered before 15 
August 2018. 

Projects commenced  
– Local Jobs First Standard 

In 2019–20, the VCAA did not begin any new projects. 
One Local Jobs First Standard project – known as Delivery 
of NAPLAN for Victorian Schools 2019–2021, and valued at 
$12,126,558 – continued. 

The outcomes expected from the implementation of the 
Local Jobs First policy to this project where information was 
available were:

• 0 new jobs

• 6 retained jobs

• 0 apprenticeships

• 0 traineeships

• 0 cadetships. 

Projects completed  
– Local Jobs First Standard 

The project is due for completion in 2021.
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Consultancy expenditure
In 2019–20, there were three consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. 
The total expenditure incurred during 2019–20 in relation to these consultancies is $101,734 (excluding GST). Details of 
individual consultancies are outlined in the following table.

Consultant Purpose of consultancy
Total approved 
project fee

Expenditure 2019–20 Future expenditure

($ excluding GST) ($ excluding GST) ($ excluding GST)

Dandolo Partners Pty Ltd VCE Offshore Review 64,521 6,634 –  

Dandolo Partners 
International Pty Ltd

Strategic Planning 
Framework Development

75,600 75,600  – 

National Institute of 
Organisation Dynamics 
Australia

Organisational review – 
Special Provisions Business 
Operations

26,250 19,500 – 

101,734

In 2019–20 there were no consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultant was less than $10,000.

Information and Communications Technology (ICT) expenditure

BAU ICT expenditure Non-BAU ICT expenditure Operational expenditure Capital expenditure

Total Total = A+ B A B

$10,639,065 $0 $0 $0

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) (the Act) allows 
the public to access documents and information held by 
the VCAA. The purpose of the Act is to extend as far as 
possible the right of the community to access information 
held by government departments, local councils, Ministers 
and other bodies subject to the Act.

An applicant has a right to apply for access to documents 
held by the VCAA. These can be documents created by the 
VCAA or supplied to the VCAA by an external organisation 
or individual. These can include maps, films, microfiche, 
photographs, computer printouts, computer discs, tape 
recordings and videotapes. Information about the type of 
material produced by the VCAA is available under its Part II 
Information Statement at www.vcaa.vic.edu.au.

The VCAA may refuse access, either fully or partially, to 
certain documents. Examples of documents that may 
not be accessed include: cabinet documents; some 
internal working documents; law enforcement documents; 
documents covered by legal professional privilege, such as 
legal advice; personal information about other people; and 
information provided to the VCAA in confidence.

Processing time for requests is 30 days. However, when 
external consultation is required, the processing time 
automatically reverts to 45 days. Processing time may also 
be extended by periods of 30 days, in consultation with the 
applicant. With the applicant’s agreement, this may occur 
any number of times. However, obtaining an applicant’s 
agreement for an extension cannot occur after the expiry of 
the timeframe for deciding a request. 

If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made by the 
VCAA, under section 49A of the Act, they have the right 
to seek a review by the Office of the Victorian Information 
Commissioner (OVIC) within 28 days of receiving a 
decision letter.
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Making a request

FOI requests can be lodged online at www.foi.vic.gov.
au. An application fee of $29.60 applies. Access charges 
may also be payable if the document pool is large, and the 
search for material time consuming.

Access to documents can also be obtained through a 
written request to the VCAA’s Freedom of Information 
Officer, as detailed in section 17 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1982. An application fee of $29.60 applied 
from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. Access charges could 
apply if the document pool was large, and the search for 
material was time consuming.

When making an FOI request, applicants should make 
requests in writing, and clearly identify what types of 
material/documents are being sought. Requests should be 
addressed to:

Freedom of Information Officer 
Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
Level 7, 2 Lonsdale Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

(03) 9032 1662 
vcaa.foi@edumail.vic.gov.au

FOI statistics/timelines

The VCAA received five applications, all valid. Two 
applications were from Members of Parliament, and three 
applications were from members of the public.

The VCAA made three decisions within the statutory 30-day 
time period; two decisions were made within 46 to 90 days. 
Three decisions were made after mandatory extensions had 
been applied or agreed upon by the applicant. The average 
time taken to finalise requests in 2019–20 was 38.4 days. 

No requests were subject to a complaint/internal review by 
OVIC. No applications were made to the Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT).

Further information

Further information about the operation and scope of FOI 
can be obtained from the Act, regulations made under the 
Act, and https://ovic.vic.gov.au.

National Competition Policy
The Victorian Department of Education and Training is 
responsible for legislation and regulations enacted within 
the portfolio, and the regulatory burden assessments 
carried out include consideration of the principles contained 
in the National Competition Policy. 

Competitive neutrality

Competitive neutrality requires government businesses to 
ensure that where services compete, or potentially compete 
with the private sector, any advantage arising solely from 
their government ownership be removed if it is not in the 
public interest. Government businesses are required to cost 
and price these services as if they were privately owned. 
Competitive neutrality policy supports fair competition 
between public and private businesses and provides 
government businesses with a tool to enhance decisions 
on resource allocation. This policy does not override other 
policy objectives of government and focuses on efficiency 
in the provision of service.

The VCAA does not conduct any businesses. The VCAA 
was not involved in any complaints for the year 2019–20.

http://www.foi.vic.gov.au
http://www.foi.vic.gov.au


31

V
ictorian C

urriculum
 and A

ssessm
ent A

uthority A
nnual R

eport 2020

Compliance with the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (Vic) (formerly 
named the Protected Disclosure Act 2012) encourages 
and assists people in making disclosures of improper 
conduct by public officers and public bodies. The Act 
provides protection to people who make disclosures in 
accordance with the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 
and establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be 
investigated and rectifying action to be taken.

The VCAA does not tolerate improper conduct by its 
employees or officers, nor the taking of reprisals against 
those who come forward to disclose such conduct.

We are committed to ensuring transparency and 
accountability in our administrative and management 
practices. We support the making of disclosures that 
reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving a substantial 
mismanagement of public resources or conduct involving a 
substantial risk to public health and safety or the environment.

We will take all reasonable steps to protect people who 
make such disclosures from any detrimental action in 
reprisal for making the disclosure. We will also afford natural 
justice to the person who is the subject of the disclosure to 
the extent it is legally possible.

Under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (and the 
Protected Disclosure Act before it), the VCAA is not able 
to receive disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental 
action by the VCAA or any of its employees or officers. 
Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by the 
VCAA or any of its Board members and/or employees should 
be made to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC). Disclosures can be made anonymously.

Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission 
Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

1300 735 135

info@ibac.vic.gov.au 
www.ibac.vic.gov.au – explains how to provide information 
to IBAC and how to make a complaint. 

Further information

The VCAA’s Public Interest Disclosures procedures are 
available online (under Corporate policies) at: https://www.
vcaa.vic.edu.au/About-us/Pages/WhatWeDo.aspx. To 
request a hard copy of these procedures, contact VCAA’s 
Public Interest Disclosures Coordinator:

Executive Director, Infrastructure and Business Services 
Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
Level 7, 2 Lonsdale Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Additional information available on request
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing 
Directions 2018 under the Financial Management Act 1994 
(Vic), details in respect of the items listed below have been 
retained by the Chief Executive Officer of the VCAA and 
are available on request, subject to the provisions of the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic):

• a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have 
been duly completed by all relevant officers

• details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or 
held beneficially in a statutory authority or subsidiary

• details of publications produced by the VCAA about 
itself, and how these can be obtained

• details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 
levies charged by the VCAA

• details of any major external reviews carried out on the 
VCAA

• details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by the VCAA

• details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit

• details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by the VCAA to develop 
community awareness of the VCAA and its services

• details of assessments and measures undertaken 
to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees

• a general statement on industrial relations within 
the VCAA and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes

• a list of major committees sponsored by the VCAA, the 
purposes of each committee and the extent to which the 
purposes have been achieved

• details of all consultancies and contractors including:

• consultants/contractors engaged

• services provided

• expenditure committed for each engagement. 

The information is available on request from:

Executive Director, Infrastructure and Business Services 
Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
Level 7, 2 Lonsdale Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 
 
vcaa@education.vic.gov.au

mailto:info@ibac.vic.gov.au
http://www.ibac.vic.gov.au
https://www.vcaa.vic.edu.au/About-us/Pages/WhatWeDo.aspx
https://www.vcaa.vic.edu.au/About-us/Pages/WhatWeDo.aspx
mailto:vcaa@edumail.vic.gov.au
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Attestation for financial management compliance with  
Ministerial Standing Direction 5.1.4

I, Marcia Devlin, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that the Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
has complied with the applicable Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial Management Act 1994 and 
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) instructions for the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.

Marcia Devlin 
Audit Committee Acting Chair
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FINANCIAL REPORT

How this report is structured
The Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority  
(VCAA) has presented its audited general purpose financial 
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 in 
the following structure to provide users with the information 
about the VCAA’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

Financial statements
Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance and Accounting 
Officer’s Declaration 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Comprehensive operating statement

Balance sheet

Statement of changes in equity

Cash flow statement



34

V
ic

to
ria

n 
C

ur
ric

ul
um

 a
nd

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
02

0

Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance  
and Accounting Officer’s Declaration
The attached financial statements for the Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority (VCAA) have been prepared 
in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management 
Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements. 

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions 
during the year ended 30 June 2020 and financial position of the VCAA at 30 June 2020.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 26 August 2020.

Chris Wardlaw

Chair 
Blackburn 
26 August 2020

Stephen Gniel

Chief Executive Officer 
Camberwell 
26 August 2020

Bruce Rohde

Chief Finance Officer 
Ringwood 
26 August 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
(the authority) which comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• accountable officer's and chief finance and accounting officer's declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the authority as at 30 June 2020 and their financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the authority in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the authority’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the authority’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
authority to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
16 September 2020 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Comprehensive operating statement

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Note(s)

$ $

2020 2019

Continuing operations

Income from transactions

Funding 2.2 68,007,836 76,978,576

Interest 2.3.1 282,756 308,073

Grants 2.3.2 1,397,225 2,899,304

Resources received free of charge 2.3.3 2,580,132 2,537,238

Other income 2.3.4 2,656,023 4,374,156

Total income from transactions 74,923,972 87,097,347

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1.1(a) 43,603,850 45,451,602

Depreciation and amortisation expense 4.1.1 777,796 619,738

Interest expense 6.2(b) 1,733 1,213

Supplies and services 3.1.2 23,532,132 29,264,869

Other expenses 3.1.2 813,656 736,480

Resources received free of charge 3.1.2 2,580,132 2,537,238

Total expenses from transactions 71,309,299 78,611,140

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 3,614,673 8,486,207

Net result 3,614,673 8,486,207

Comprehensive result 3,614,673 8,486,207

The above comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Balance sheet 

As at 30 June 2020 

Note(s)

$ $

2020 2019

Assets

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 6.3 31,906,109 34,640,341

Receivables 5.1 909,467 2,209,840

Total financial assets 32,815,576 36,850,181

Non-financial assets

Property, Plant and equipment 4.1 1,230,333 423,406

Intangible assets 4.2 4,091,295 2,390,765

Other non-financial assets 5.3 571,012 533,655

Total non-financial assets 5,892,640 3,347,826

Total assets 38,708,216 40,198,007

Liabilities

Payables 5.2 5,143,169 11,195,720

Borrowings 6.1 1,043,858 95,771

Total liabilities 6,187,027 11,291,491

Net assets 32,521,189 28,906,516

Equity

Accumulated surplus 27,822,697 24,208,024

Contributed capital 4,698,492 4,698,492

Net worth 32,521,189 28,906,516

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of changes in equity

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

$ $ $

Accumulated Contributions

Surplus by owner Total

Balance at 1 July 2018 15,721,817 4,698,492 20,420,309

Net result for the year 8,486,207 - 8,486,207

Balance at 30 June 2019 24,208,024 4,698,492 28,906,516

Net result for the year 3,614,673 - 3,614,673

Balance at 30 June 2020 27,822,697 4,698,492 32,521,189

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Note(s)

$ $

2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Receipts from Government 69,357,161 79,886,630

Interest received 282,756 308,073

Goods and Services Tax recovered from ATO 12,743 10,613

Other receipts 3,749,948 4,183,816

Total receipts 73,402,608 84,389,132

Payments

Payments to employees (47,083,605) (45,009,303)

Goods and Services Tax paid to ATO (112,539) (50,114)

Payments to suppliers (26,603,530) (28,190,457)

Total payments (73,799,674) (73,249,874)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.3.1 (397,066) 11,139,258

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of investments - 19,000,000

Payments for non-financial assets (1,147,037) (294,407)

Payments for work in progress (1,155,597) (684,050)

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (2,302,634) 18,021,543

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings and principal portion of lease liabilities (2019: finance 

leases) (a)

(34,532) (23,882)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (34,532) (23,882)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,734,232) 29,136,919

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

34,640,341 5,503,422

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 6.3 31,906,109 34,640,341

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

(a) The VCAA has recognised cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities; cash payments for the 
interest portion as operating activities consistent with the presentation of interest payments and short-term lease payments for leases and 
low-value assets as operating activities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ABOUT THIS REPORT
The Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority (VCAA) 
is a statutory authority continued under the Education and 
Training Reform Act 2006 (Vic) (ETR Act) and a public 
body under the Financial Management Act 1994 (Vic). The 
VCAA directly reports to, and is primarily accountable to, 
the Victorian Minister for Education. The ETR Act 2006 sets 
out the functions and powers of the VCAA.

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal 
activities is included in the Report of operations, which 
does not form part of these statements.

Its principal address is:

Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority 
Level 7, 2 Lonsdale Street 
Melbourne Vic 3000

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are in Australian dollars and 
the historical cost convention is used unless a different 
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note 
associated with the item measured on a different basis.  

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in 
preparing these financial statements, whereby assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in 
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of 
when cash is received or paid.

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are required to 
be made about financial information being presented.  The 
significant judgments made in the preparation of these 
financial statements are disclosed in the notes where 
amounts affected by those judgments are disclosed.  
Estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
professional judgments derived from historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and also in future 
periods that are affected by the revision. Judgments and 
assumptions made by management in the application of 
Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) that have significant 
effects on the financial statements and estimates are 
disclosed in the notes under the heading: ‘Significant 
judgment or estimates’.

These financial statements cover the VCAA as an 
individual reporting entity and include all the controlled 
activities of the agency.

Where necessary,  changes to the presentation of comparative 
figures have been made for disclosure purposes.

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to 
the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated.

COVID-19

This financial report has been prepared during a year 
in which the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted many 
public sector entities as well as the State of Victoria as a 
whole. The impact of COVID-19 on the 2019–20 financial 
statements has primarily been the reduction in expenditure. 
This is due in part to key activities such as NAPLAN being 
cancelled for 2020 and the General Achievement Test being 
delayed until 2020–21.

As the impacts of COVID-19 and necessary restrictions 
continue into 2020–21 across Victoria, the VCAA will 
continue to monitor the impacts on the delivery of its 
statutory functions and activities.

Compliance information

These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994, and applicable AAS which include Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB). In particular, they are presented in a manner 
consistent with the requirements of AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial 
Reporting. For the purposes of preparing financial 
statements, VCAA is classed as a not-for-profit entity.

Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to 
not-for-profit entities have been applied.

Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial 
statements ensure that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby 
ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions 
or other events is reported.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue 
by the Chair of the Board on 26 August 2020. 
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2. FUNDING DELIVERY OF OUR SERVICES

Introduction

The VCAA’s objective is to provide high-quality curriculum, 
assessment and reporting that promotes individual lifelong 
learning.

The VCAA is predominantly funded by the Department 
of Education and Training (DET) for the provision of 
outputs. As a statutory authority, the VCAA also derives 
revenue from a number of external sources, including 
the Commonwealth Government, overseas student fees, 
publication sales, student services, royalties and other 
administrative fees.

Structure

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our 
services

2.2 Funding

2.3 Income from transactions

2.3.1 Interest

2.3.2 Grants

2.3.3 Fair value of assets and services received free of  
charge or for nominal consideration

2.3.4 Other income

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services 

Note(s)

$ $

2020 2019

Funding 2.2 68,007,836 76,978,576

Interest 2.3.1 282,756 308,073

Grants 2.3.2 1,397,225 2,899,304

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge 2.3.3 2,580,132 2,537,238

Other income 2.3.4 2,656,023 4,374,156

Total income from transactions 74,923,972 87,097,347

Revenue and income that fund delivery of the VCAA’s services are accounted for consistently with the requirements of the relevant 
accounting standards disclosed in the following notes.

2.2 Funding

$ $

2020 2019

Operational funding (i) 67,478,836 76,978,576

Capital funding 529,000 -

Total funding 68,007,836 76,978,576

(i) VCAA receives operational funding from DET, from which both employee and non-employee costs are met. Operational funding for 
2018–19 included $11.6 million for the transition to NAPLAN Online.

Funding is recognised as income of not-for-profit entities in accordance with AASB 1058, except for funding arrangements that are 
enforceable and with sufficiently specific performance obligations and accounted for as revenue from contracts with customers in 
accordance with AASB 15.

The adoption of AASB 1058 did not have an impact on Other comprehensive income and the Statement of Cash flows for the financial year.
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2.3 Income from transactions 
2.3.1 Interest

$ $

2020 2019

Interest on bank deposits 282,756 308,073

Total interest 282,756 308,073

Interest income includes interest received on bank deposits in operational bank accounts.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method, which allocates the interest over the relevant period.

2.3.2 Grants

$ $

2020 2019

General purpose grants 1,397,225 2,899,304

Total grants 1,397,225 2,899,304

The VCAA has determined that grants are recognised as income of not-for-profit entities in accordance with AASB 1058, except for grants 
that are enforceable and with sufficiently specific performance obligations and accounted for as revenue from contracts with customers in 
accordance with AASB 15.

There has been no impact on the 1 July 2019 balance sheet carrying amounts due to the adoption of the new accounting standard  
AASB 15 and AASB 1058.

2.3.3 Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration 

$ $

2020 2019

Accommodation 2,580,132 2,537,238

Total fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for 

nominal consideration

2,580,132 2,537,238

Contributions of resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value when the VCAA obtains 
control over them. Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would have been purchased if not received as a donation.

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or from nominal consideration relates to two separate building occupancy agreements:

• 2 Lonsdale Street, Melbourne

• VCAA Assessment Centre at Coburg.

The value of the VCAA accommodation costs from DET is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as an expense offset by 
an increase to revenue as resources received free of charge.

2.3.4 Other income

$ $

2020 2019

User charges 2,156,969 3,399,690

Royalties 140,910 132,692

Miscellaneous income 358,144 841,774

Total other income 2,656,023 4,374,156
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User charges

User charges include income for student fees and charges from overseas students and the offshore delivery of the VCE.

The user charges included in the table above are transactions that the VCAA has determined to be classified as revenue 
from contracts with customers in accordance with AASB 15. The impact of initially applying AASB 15 on the VCAA’s 
revenue from contracts with customers is described in Note 8.9. Due to the modified retrospective transition method 
chosen in applying AASB 15, comparative information has not been restated to reflect the new requirements.

The following practical expedient has been used for uncompleted contracts when applying AASB 15 retrospectively under 
the modified approach:

• For contracts modified before the date of initial application, the VCAA has reflected the aggregate of all past contracts 
modifications that occurred before the date of initial application when identifying performance obligations and 
determining and allocating the transaction price.

The practical expedient has been consistently applied to all contracts within the current reporting period and the effect of 
applying the practical expedient is disclosed in Note 5.2.

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with the customer. The VCAA recognises 
revenue when it transfers control of a good or service to the customer, i.e. when, or as, the performance obligations for the 
sale of goods, biological assets and services to the customer are satisfied.

• Customers obtain control of the supplies and consumables at a point in time when the goods are delivered to and have 
been accepted at their premises.

• Revenue from the sale of goods are recognised when the goods are delivered and have been accepted by the customer 
at their premises

• Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied 
when the service is completed; and over time when the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the services 
as it is provided.

Customers are invoiced and revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered and accepted by customers. For services 
rendered, where customers simultaneously receive and consume the services as it is provided, revenue is recognised 
progressively as contract assets until the customer is subsequently invoiced in accordance with the terms of the service 
agreement. For other customers that are only able to consume the services when they have been completed, revenue is 
only recognised upon completion and delivery of the services. In rare circumstance where there may be a change in the 
scope of services provided, the customer will be provided with a new contract for the additional services to be rendered 
and revenue is recognised consistent with accounting policy above.

Consideration received in advance of recognising the associated revenue from the customer is recorded as a contract 
liability (Note 5.2). Where the performance obligations is satisfied but not yet billed, a contract asset is recorded (Note 5.2).

Previous accounting policy for 30 June 2019

Revenue from user charges was recognised when:

• the VCAA no longer had any of the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods transferred to the buyer;

• the VCAA no longer had continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 
effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transactions, could be reliably 
measured; and

• it was probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction would flow to the VCAA.

Revenue from the supply of services was recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the services performed. 
The income was recognised when:

• the amount of the revenue, stage of completion and transaction costs incurred could be reliably measured; and

• it was probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction would flow to the VCAA. Under this method, 
revenue was recognised at the beginning of the academic year.
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3. THE COST OF DELIVERING SERVICES

Introduction

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred 
by the VCAA in delivering services and outputs. In 
Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services 
were disclosed and in this note the cost associated with 
provision of services are recorded.

Structure

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services

3.1.1 Employee benefits

3.1.2 Other operating expenses

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services

Notes

$ $

2020 2019

Employee benefit expenses 3.1.1 43,603,850 45,451,602

Other operating expenses 3.1.2 26,925,920 32,538,587

Total expenses incurred in delivery of services 70,529,770 77,990,189

3.1.1 Employee benefits

3.1.1(a) Employee benefits – comprehensive operating statement

$ 
2020

$  
2019

Salary & wages (including annual leave and long service leave)

Superannuation

Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax and WorkCover levy)

37,681,920

3,558,498

2,363,432

39,309,818

3,710,310

2,431,475

Total employee benefits 43,603,850 45,451,602 

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements and 
superannuation contributions. These are recognised when incurred, except for contributions in respect of defined benefit plans.

3.1.1(b) Employee benefits in the balance sheet

As per the Education and Training Reform Act 2006, for employees in the VCAA recognised as employees of the DET, 
their liabilities for long service leave and annual leave are recognised by DET. When a staff member accesses their leave 
entitlement, it is paid by DET and reduces the accumulated balances of the provision accounts in the DET balance sheet.

Provisions for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from 
the provision for employee benefits.

3.1.1(c) Superannuation contributions

As per the Education and Training Reform Act 2006 , employees in the VCAA recognised as employees of the DET are 
entitled to receive superannuation benefits. The VCAA contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. 
The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

The VCAA does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because the entity has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation 
contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance recognises and discloses the State’s total defined 
benefit liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the 
reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of the VCAA.

Superannuation contributions for the reporting period are included as part of salaries and associated costs in the 
comprehensive operating statement of the VCAA.

The VCAA paid contributions on behalf of eligible casual and sessional employees into 234 different funds.

Contributions are calculated at a rate of 9.5 per cent (2019: 9.5 per cent) pursuant to the provisions of the 
Superannuation Guarantee Act 1992. The names, details and amounts of the major employee superannuation funds and 
contributions made by the VCAA are as follows:
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Paid contribution for the year
Contribution outstanding  

at year end

2020 2019 2020 2019

Defined contribution plans:

Victorian Superannuation Scheme 891,498 955,636 17,596 55,718

Catholic Superannuation Fund 117,418 85,240 386 2,276

Uni Superannuation Fund 66,221 61,000 1,692 5,916

Various other 516,533 385,183 13,055 18,448

Total 1,591,670 1,487,059 32,729 82,358

3.1.2 Other operating expenses

$

2020

$

2019

Supplies and services:

Examination centre, supervisor and other payments 3,443,250 4,404,838

Teacher release and development payments 1,042,621 2,092,803

Contractors and consultants 11,699,986 15,324,562

Administrative expenses 2,057,017 2,455,845

Information, technology and communication expenses 3,222,066 2,537,245

Purchase of other supplies and services 2,067,192 2,449,576

23,532,132 29,264,869

Other expenses:

Short-term lease/rental expenses 742,070 703,635

Bad debts from transactions 71,586 32,845

813,656 736,480

Fair value assets and services provided free of charge or for nominal consideration:

Accommodation 2,580,132 2,537,238

2,580,132 2,537,238

Total other operating expenses 26,925,920 32,538,587

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred and generally 
represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, including school requisites and maintenance costs, 
incurred in the normal operations of the VCAA.

Contributions of resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration represents the value of the VCAA 
accommodation costs from DET recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as an expense offset by an 
increase to revenue as resources received free of charge.

From 1 July 2019, the following lease payments are recognised on a straight-line basis:

• short-term leases – leases with a term less than 12 months; and

• low-value leases – leases with the underlying asset’s fair value (when new, regardless of the age of the asset being 
leased) is no more than $10,000.

Operating lease payments up until 30 June 2019 (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived 
from the use of the leased asset.

Variable lease payments that are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (i.e. variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate and which are not, in substance fixed) such as those based on performance or usage of the 
underlying asset, are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement (except for payments that have been included in 
the carrying amount of another asset) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occur.
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4. KEY ASSETS AVAILABLE TO SUPPORT OUTPUT DELIVERY

Introduction

The VCAA controls assets that are utilised in fulfilling its 
objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the 
key resources that have been entrusted to the VCAA for the 
delivery of these outputs.

Fair value measurement

Where the assets included in this section are carried at 
fair value, additional information is disclosed in Note 7.3 in 
connection with how those fair values were determined.

Structure

4.1 Total property, plant and equipment

4.1.1 Depreciation and amoritisation

4.1.2 Carrying values by ‘purpose’ groups

4.1.3 Reconciliation of movements in carrying values of 
property, plant and equipment

4.2 Intangible assets

4.1 Total property, plant and equipment(i)

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation/

amortisation
Net carrying amount

$ $ $ $ $ $

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Buildings at fair value (a) Plant, 

equipment and vehicles at  

fair value

1,004,245

4,317,020 4,313,844

(13,948)

(4,076,984) (3,914,248)

990,297

240,036 399,596

Work in progress 23,810 - - 0 23,810

5,321,265 4,337,654 (4,090,932) (3,914,248) 1,230,333 423,406

Notes:

(i) AASB 16 Leases has been applied for the first time from 1 July 2019.

4.1(a) Total right-of-use assets: buildings, plant, equipment and vehicles

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated 
depreciation

Net carrying amount

$

2020

$

2020

$

2020

Buildings at fair value  1,004,245  13,948  990,297 

Closing balance – 30 June 2020 1,004,245 13,948 990,297

Gross carrying amount

$

2020

Opening balance – 1 July 2019 2020

Additions 1,004,245

Disposals -

Depreciation (13,948)

Closing balance – 30 June 2020 990,297
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Initial recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment, are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their carrying amount.

The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour 
on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under a finance lease (under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019) is measured 
at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each 
determined at the inception of the lease.

Right-of-use asset acquired by lessees (Under AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019) – Initial measurement

The VCAA recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 
initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for:

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentive received; plus

• any initial direct costs incurred; and

• an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which 
it is located.

Right-of-use asset – Subsequent measurement

The VCAA depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the 
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The right-of-use assets are also subject to revaluation.

Vehicles are valued using the current replacement cost method. The VCAA acquires new vehicles and at times disposes 
of them before the end of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by 
experienced fleet managers in the Department of Treasury and Finance who set relevant depreciation rates during use to 
reflect the utilisation of the vehicles.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in 
nature and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value determined 
under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, with the consequence that AASB 136 does not apply to such assets that are 
regularly revalued.

4.1.1 Depreciation and amortisation

Charge for the period (i)
$

2020

$

2019

Buildings 13,948 -

Plant and equipment 170,307 168,253

Motor vehicles 19,543 23,643

Intangibles 573,998 427,842

777,796 191,896

Notes:

(i) The table incorporates depreciation of right-of-use assets for the first time from 1 July 2019.

All buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have finite useful lives, are depreciated.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its 

estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the following table.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over 
its estimated useful life.

Amortisation is provided on computer software and other intangible assets. Amortisation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis so 

as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value.
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Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below:

Asset
Useful life:

years

Plant and equipment (including computer equipment) 3-5

Intangibles 3-5

Leased assets (motor vehicles) 5-10

Buildings 6

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments made where appropriate. 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. Where the VCAA 
obtains ownership of the underlying leased asset or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the entity will exercise a 
purchase option, the entity depreciates the right-of-use asset over its useful life.

Where items of plant and equipment have separately identifiable components, which are subject to regular replacement, 
those components are assigned useful lives distinct from the item of plant and equipment to which they relate.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the asset may be impaired.

During the 2020 financial year no assets have been impaired. (2019: Nil)

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their 
recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written off as ‘other 
economic flow’, except to the extent that it can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class 
of asset. 

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its 
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated or amortised replacement cost and 
fair value less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the 
higher of the present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.

4.1.2 Carrying values by ‘purpose’ groups

Education Total

$ $ $ $

2020 2019 2020 2019

Buildings 990,297 - 990,297 -

Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value (i) 240,036 399,596 240,036 399,596

Work in progress - 23,810 - 23,810

1,230,333 423,406 1,230,333 423,406

(i) Plant and equipment are classified primarily by the ‘purpose’ for which the assets are used according to one of six ‘purpose groups’ 
based upon government purpose classifications. All assets within a purpose group are further sub categorised according to the asset’s 
‘nature’ (i.e. plant and equipment, etc.), with each sub-category being classified as a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes.
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4.1.3 Reconciliation of movements in carrying values of property, plant and equipment

Buildings
Plant, equipment and 

vehicles
Work in progress Total

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

$ 
2020

$

2019

Opening WDV 
Balance

 -    -    399,596  238,004  23,810  230,678  423,406  468,682 

Additions  1,004,245  -    -    199,703 28,106 100,245 1,032,351 299,948

Disposals  -    -   (21,626) (33,946)  -    -   (21,626) (33,946)

Transfer to/from WIP  -    -    51,916  -   (51,916)  -    -    -   

Transfer to Plant and 
equipment

 -    -    -    
187,731.00 

 -   (307,113)  -   (119,382)

Depreciation/
amortisation expense

(13,948)  -   (189,850) (191,896)  -    -   (203,798) (191,896)

Closing WDV 
Balance

990,297  -   240,036 399,596  -   23,810 1,230,333 423,406

4.2 Intangible assets

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Gross carrying amount 

Opening WDV Balance

 
996,218

 
770,638

 
1,394,547

 
1,169,757

 
2,390,765

 
1,940,395

Additions - 175,025 2,274,528 878,212 2,274,528 1,053,237

Transfers to/from WIP

Amortisation of intangible produced assets (a)

1,095,121

(573,998)

478,397

(427,842)

(1,095,121)

-

(653,422)

-

-

(573,998)

(175,025)

(427,842)

Closing WDV Balance 1,517,341 996,218 2,573,954 1,394,547 4,091,295 2,390,765

(a) The consumption of intangible produced assets is included in ‘depreciation’ line item, where the consumption of the intangible non-
produced assets is included in ‘net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets’ line item on the comprehensive operating statement.

Initial recognition

Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 Intangible Assets 
is met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation and amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phases of an internal project) is 
recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

a. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

b. an intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

c. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

d. the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

e. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 
intangible asset; and

f. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Subsequent measurement

Intangible produced assets with finite useful lives are amortised as an ‘expense from transactions’ on a straight line basis 
over their useful lives. Produced intangible assets have useful lives of between three and five years.

Intangible non-produced assets with finite useful lives are amortised as an ‘other economic flow’ on a straight line basis 
over their useful lives. The amortisation period is three to five years.

Impairment of intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested annually 
for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are tested for impairment whenever an indication of impairment is identified.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in section 4.1.1.
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5. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Introduction

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose 
from the VCAA’s controlled operations.

Structure

5.1 Receivables

5.1.1 Movement in the allowance for credit losses

5.1.2 Aging of contractual receivables

5.2 Payables

5.2.1 Maturity analysis of contractual payables

5.3 Other non-financial assets

5.1 Receivables

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Contractual receivables

Fee paying overseas students 

Provisions for doubtful receivables 

Other receivables

663,359

(70,534)

316,642

1,077,170

(29,929)

1,162,599

909,467 2,209,840

Total receivables 909,467 2,209,840

represented by:

Current receivables 909,467 2,209,840

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as ‘financial assets at amortised costs’. They are initially 
recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. The VCAA holds the contractual receivables with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.

Details about the VCAA’s impairment policies, the VCAA’s exposure to credit risk, and the calculation of the loss allowance are set out in 
note 7.1.4.

5.1.1 Movement in the allowance for credit losses

The VCAA measures loss allowances at an amount equal to life time expected credit losses (ECLs). Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result 
from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit-losses. 
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls.

The VCAA determined that the application of AASB 9’s impairment requirements at 30 June 2020 resulted in an additional allowance for 
impairment. This impairment is created for debts that are not anticipated to be paid.

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Balance at beginning of the year

Increase in allowance recognised in the net result

Reversal of allowance of receivables written off during the year as uncollectible

(29,929)

(70,534)

29,929

(30,262)

(29,929)

30,262

Balance at end of the year (70,534) (29,929)
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5.1.2 Aging of contractual receivables

2020

$

Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due and not 

impaired

Past due but not impaired

Less than 1 
month

1-3 months
3 months -

1 year
1-5 years

Fee paying overseas 592,825 518,579 - - - 74,246

Other receivables 316,642 316,642 - - - -

Total 909,467 835,221 - - - 74,246

2019

Fee paying overseas 1,047,241 1,015,737 - - - 31,504

Other receivables 1,162,599 1,148,329 - 250 14,020 -

Total 2,209,840 2,164,066 - 250 14,020 31,504

The average credit period for fee paying overseas students is 45 days and for other receivables is 30 days. 

There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and they are 

stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. 

5.2 Payables

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Contractual

Supplies and services 347,546 2,106,391

Accrued wages and salaries 1,084,608 4,405,182

Accrued expenses 1,954,361 2,375,483

Contract Liability 469,754 639,773

Statutory

3,856,269 9,526,829

Group tax payable 84,047 243,228

Amounts payable to government departments 1,202,853 1,425,663

Total payables 5,143,169 11,195,720

represented by:

5,143,169 11,195,720Current payables

Payables consist of:

• Contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the VCAA prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise 
when the VCAA becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services.

• Statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as 
financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise 
from contracts.

• Payables for supplies and services have an average credit period of 30 days. The terms and conditions payable to 
government and agencies vary according to the particular agreements and as they are not legislative payables, they are 
not classified as financial instruments.

• The terms and conditions of amounts payable to the government and agencies vary according to the particular 
agreements and as they are not legislative payables, they are not classified as financial instruments.
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Contract liabilities

$ 
2020

Contract liabilities

Opening balance brought forward from 30 June 2019 -

Add: Payments received for performance obligations yet to be completed during the period 939,510

Less: Revenue recognised in the reporting period for the completion of a performance obligation

(469,755)

Total contract liabilities 469,755

Represented by

Current contract liabilities 469,755

Non-Current contract liabilities -

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance from schools in respect of Offshore License Fees and Offshore Student Fees. 
Invoices are raised at the beginning of the academic year. The balance of contract liabilities represents a performance obligation until  
31 December 2020.

5.2.1 Maturity analysis of contractual payables (i)

$

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Maturity dates

Less than 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months - 
1 year

1-5 years

2020

Supplies and services 347,546 347,546 347,546 - - -

Accrued wages  
and salaries

1,084,608 1,084,608 1,084,608 - - -

Accrued expenses 1,954,361 1,954,361 1,954,361 - - -

Contract Liability 469,754 469,754 - - 469,754 -

Total 3,856,269 3,856,269 3,386,515 - 469,754 -

2019

Supplies and services 2,106,391 2,106,391 2,106,391 - - -

Accrued wages  
and salaries

4,405,182 4,405,182 4,405,182 - - -

Accrued expenses 2,375,483 2,375,483 2,375,483 - - -

Contract Liability 639,773 639,773 - - 639,773 -

Total 9,526,829 9,526,829 8,887,056 - 639,773 -

(i) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

5.3 Other non-financial assets

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Current other assets

Prepayments 571,012 533,655

Total current other assets 571,012 533,655

Total other non-financial assets 571,012 533,655

Other non-financial assets include prepayments, which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or the payments 
made for services covering a term extending beyond 30 June 2020.
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6. HOW WE FINANCED OUR OPERATIONS

Introduction

This section provides information on the sources of 
finance utilised by the VCAA during its operations, along 
with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other 
information related to financing activities of the VCAA.

This section includes disclosures of balances that are 
financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash 
balances). Notes 7.1 and 7.3 provide additional, specific 

financial instrument disclosures.

Structure

6.1 Borrowings

6.1.1 Maturity analysis of borrowings

6.2 Lease

6.3 Cash flow information and balances

6.3.1 Reconciliation of net result to cash flow from 
operating activities

6.4 Commitments for expenditure

6.4.1 Total commitments payable

6.1 Borrowings

$ $

2020 2019

Current borrowing

Lease liabilities (2019: Finance Lease) (i) 224,831 41,158

Total current borrowings 224,831 41,158

Non-current borrowings

Lease liabilities (2019: Finance Lease) (i) 819,027 54,613

Total non-current borrowings 819,027 54,613

Total borrowings 1,043,858 95,771

 
(i) Secured by the assets leased. Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets 
revert to the lessor in the event of default.

Borrowings are classified as financial instruments. All interest bearing borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends 
on whether the VCAA has categorised its interest as either ‘financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss’, or financial 
liabilities at ‘amortised cost’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The VCAA determines 
the classification of its interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition.

6.1.1 Maturity analysis of borrowings

$

2020 Carrying amount
Nominal 
amount

Maturity dates

Less than 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months - 
1 year

1-5 
years

Lease liabilities 1,043,858 1,088,813 18,736 37,472 168,623 819,027

Total 1,043,858 1,088,813 18,736 37,472 168,623 819,027

2019

Lease liabilities 95,771 99,739 3,430 6,860 30,869 54,613

Total 95,771 99,739 3,430 6,860 30,869 54,613

6.2 Leases 

Information about leases for which the VCAA is a lessee is presented in the following section. 

The VCAA’s leasing activities

The VCAA leases a property and motor vehicles. The lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of three to five 
years. Lease payments for the property are renegotiated every three years to reflect market rentals. There is an option to 
renew the property lease after that date.
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6.2 (a) Right-of-use Assets 

Right-of-use assets are presented in Note 4.1(a).

6.2 (b) Amounts recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement

The following amounts are recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement relating to leases.

$ $

2020 2019

Interest on lease liabilities 1,733 1,213

Total amount recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement 1,733 1,213

 
Interest expense includes costs incurred in connection to the interest component of finance leases repayments. Interest expense is 
recognised in the period in which it is incurred.

6.2 (c) Amounts recognised in the Statement of Cash flows

The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of Cash flows for the year ending 30 June 2020 relating to leases.

$

2020

Total cash outflow for leases (34,532)

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 July 2019, the VCAA considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is 

defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 

for consideration’. To apply this definition the VCAA assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations:

• Whether the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being 

identified at the time the asset is made available to the VCAA and for which the supplier does not have substantive substitution 

rights;

• Whether VCAA has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of 

use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract and the VCAA has the right to direct the use of the identified asset 

throughout the period of use; and

• Whether the VCAA has the right to take decisions in respect of ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period 

of use.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after 1 July 2019.

Separation of lease and non-lease components

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the lessee is required to separate out and account 

separately for non-lease components within a lease contract and exclude these amounts when determining the lease liability and right-of-

use asset amount.
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Recognition and measurement of leases as a lessee (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at the commencement date, discounted 

using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily determinable or the VCAAs incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentive receivable;

• variable payments based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

• payments arising from purchase and termination options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease liability – subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to 

reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-

of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The VCAA has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead 

of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Interest expense includes costs incurred in connection to the interest component of finance leases repayments. Interest expense is 

recognised in the period in which it is incurred.

Recognition and measurement of leases (under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019)

In the comparative period, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either finance lease or operating leases

The VCAA determined whether an arrangement was or contained a lease based on the substance of the arrangement and required an 

assessment of whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of the specific asset(s); and the arrangement conveyed a 

right to use the asset(s).

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the VCAA as a lessee had substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership were 

classified as finance leases. Finance leases were initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the 

leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the inception of the lease. The leased 

asset is accounted for as a non-financial physical asset and depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or 

the term of the lease. Minimum finance lease payments were apportioned between the reduction of the outstanding lease liability and 

the periodic finance expense, which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the consolidated 

comprehensive operating statement.

Contingent rentals associated with finance leases were recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the VCAA’s balance sheet. Operating 

lease payments were recognised as an operating expense in the Comprehensive Operating Statement on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.
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$

Minimum future lease 
payments (i)

Present value of minimum 
future lease payments

2020 2019 2020 2019

Lease liabilities payable (ii)

205,000

910,000

43,428

56,311

224,831

819,027

41,158

54,613

Not longer than one year

Longer than one year and not longer than five years

Minimum future lease payments 1,115,000 99,739 1,043,858 95,771

Less future finance charges (71,142) (3,968) - -

Present value of minimum lease payments 1,043,858 95,771 1,043,858 95,771

Included in the financial statements as:

Current borrowing lease liabilities (Note 6.1) - - 224,831 41,158

Non-current borrowing lease liabilities (Note 6.1) - - 819,027 54,613

Total - - 1,043,858 95,771

(i) Minimum future lease payments include the aggregate of all base payments and any guaranteed residual.

(ii) Lease liabilities include obligations that are recognised on the balance sheet; the future payments related to operating and lease 
commitments are disclosed in Note 6.4).

The lease commitments relate to the VCAA’s motor vehicle and building leases. The VCAA entered into leasing 
arrangements with VicFleet to lease motor vehicles for lease periods no longer than 24 months. The VCAA entered into a 
building leasing arrangement with a lease period terminating on 1 June 2026.

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal 
to the fair value of the lease property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the 
inception of the lease. The lease asset is accounted for as a non-financial physical asset. If there is certainty that the VCAA 
will obtain the ownership of the lease asset by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be depreciated over the useful life 
of the asset. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset 
shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability, and 
periodic finance expense which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the 
comprehensive operating statement.

6.3 Cash flow information and balances

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include cash and deposits at call. Deposits at 
call are held in accordance with the standing direction relating to the central banking system requirements.

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Total cash and deposits at call disclosed in the balance sheet 31,906,109 34,640,341

Balance as per cash flow statement 31,906,109 34,640,341



57

V
ictorian C

urriculum
 and A

ssessm
ent A

uthority A
nnual R

eport 2020

6.3.1 Reconciliation of net result for the period to cash flow from operating activities

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Net result for the period 3,614,673 8,486,207

Non cash movements:

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 777,796 619,738

Resources received free of charge (revenue) 2,580,132 2,537,238

Resources received free of charge (expense) (2,580,132) (2,537,238)

Movements in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 1,259,768 (125,635)

(Increase)/decrease in other non-financial assets (37,357) (40,735)

Increase/(decrease) in payables (6,052,551) 2,200,016

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 40,605 (333)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (397,066) 11,139,258

6.4 Commitments for expenditure

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive of GST. Where it is considered appropriate and 
provides additional relevant information to users, the net present values of significant individual projects are stated. These 
future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

6.4.1 Total commitments payable (i)

$ $ $

Nominal amounts: 2020
Less than 1 

year
Between 1 and 

5 years
Total

Capital expenditure commitments payable 1,694,671 - 1,694,671

Operating commitments payable 4,236,064 1,859,243 6,095,307

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 5,930,735 1,859,243 7,789,978

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office 708,180

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 7,081,798

$ $ $

Nominal amounts: 2019
Less than 1 

year
Between 1 and 

5 years
Total

Capital expenditure commitments payable 390,261 - 390,261

Operating commitments payable 5,599,265 2,920,033 8,519,298

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 5,989,526 2,920,033 8,909,559

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office 809,960

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 8,099,599

(i) Future finance lease and operating lease payables are recognised on the balance sheet.



58

V
ic

to
ria

n 
C

ur
ric

ul
um

 a
nd

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
02

0

7. RISKS, CONTINGENCIES AND VALUATION JUDGMENTS

Introduction

The VCAA is exposed to risk from its activities and 
outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make 
judgments and estimates associated with recognition and 
measurement of items in the financial statements. This 
section sets out financial instrument specific information, 
(including exposures to financial risks) a well as those items 
that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of 
judgment to be applied, which for the VCAA related mainly 
to fair value determination.

Structure

7.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures

7.1.1 Financial instruments: categorisation

7.1.2 Financial instruments: Net holding gain/(loss) on 
financial instruments by category

7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

7.1.4 Financial instruments: credit risk

7.1.5 Financial instruments: liquidity risk

7.1.6 Financial instruments: market risk

7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

7.3 Fair value determination

7.3.1 Fair value determination of financial assets and 
liabilities

7.3.2 Fair value determination: non-financial physical 
assets

7.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures

Introduction

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the VCAA’s activities, certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract (for example taxes, fines and penalties). Such assets and liabilities do not 
meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The VCAA applies classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s 
contractual terms.

Categories of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the assets are not designated 
as fair value through net result:

• the assets are held by the VCAA to collect the contractual cash flows, and

• the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interests.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.

The VCAA recognises the following assets in this category:

• cash and deposits;

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and

• term deposits.

Categories of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured at 
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are 
measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. The 
VCAA recognises the following liabilities in this category:

• payables (excluding statutory payables); and

• borrowings (including finance lease liabilities).
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the VCAA retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full 
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

• the VCAA has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:

– has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

– has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of 
the asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised as an 
‘other economic flow’ in the comprehensive operating statement.

7.1.1 Financial instruments: Categorisation

Financial assets at amortised cost 
$

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost 

$

Total 
$

2020

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 31,906,109 - 31,906,109

Receivables (i)

Receivables 909,467 - 909,467

Total contractual financial assets 32,815,576 - 32,815,576

Contractual financial liabilities 

Payables(i)

Supplies and services

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

-

-

3,856,269

1,043,858

3,856,269

1,043,858

Total contractual financial liabilities - 4,900,127 4,900,127

Contractual financial assets – loans and 
receivables / held to maturity 

$

Contractual 
financial liabilities at 

amortised cost 
$

Total 
$

2019

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 34,640,341 - 34,640,341

Receivables (i)

Receivables 2,209,840 - 2,209,840

Total contractual financial assets 36,850,181 - 36,850,181

Contractual financial liabilities 

Payables(i)

Supplies and services

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

-

-

9,526,829

95,771

9,526,829

95,771

Total contractual financial liabilities - 9,622,600 9,622,600

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit 
recoverable and taxes payable).
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7.1.2 Financial instruments: Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Net holding 
gain/(loss)

Total interest 
income/ 

(expense) Total

2020 $ $ $

Contractual financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost (71,586)  -   (71,586)

Total contractual financial assets (71,586)  -   (71,586)

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liability at amortised cost  -   (1,733) (1,733)

Total contractual financial liabilities  -   (1,733) (1,733)

2019

Contractual financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost 32,845  -   32,845

Total contractual financial assets 32,845  -   32,845

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liability at amortised cost  -   (1,213) (1,213)

Total contractual financial liabilities  -   (1,213) (1,213)

 
Amounts disclosed in the above table exclude holding gains and losses related to statutory financial assets and liabilities. The net holding 
gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows:

• for financial assets at amortised cost that are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, the net 
gain or loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest income, plus or minus foreign exchange 
gains or losses arising from revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result;

• for financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the interest expense, plus or minus 
foreign exchange gains or losses arising from the revaluation of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

As a whole, the VCAA’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the associated volatility of its 
financial performance. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed throughout the financial statements and notes.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the VCAA’s financial risks within the 
government policy parameters.

The VCAA’s main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The VCAA manages these financial 
risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy.

The VCAA uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed. Primary responsibility 
for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the Accountable Officer of the VCAA.
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7.1.4 Financial instruments: Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default on its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The 
VCAA’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the VCAA. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

In addition, the VCAA does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual 
financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash and deposits, which are mainly cash at bank. As with the policy 
for debtors, the VCAA’s policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings. 

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the VCAA will 
not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts 
that are more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings. Except as otherwise detailed in the following 
table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowance for 
losses, represents the VCAA’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained.

There has been no material change to the VCAA’s credit risk profile in 2019–20.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets

‘Financial 
Institutions 

 (AA- credit rating) 
$

‘Financial 
Institutions 

 (AAA- credit 
rating) 

$

Other 
$

Total 
$

2020

Cash and deposits 31,906,109 - - 31,906,109

Receivables(i) - 909,467 909,467

Total contractual financial assets 31,906,109 - 909,467 32,815,576

2019

Cash and deposits 34,640,341 - - 34,640,341

Receivables(i) - - 2,209,840 2,209,840

Total contractual financial assets 34,640,341 - 2,209,840 36,850,181

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax credit

7.1.5 Financial instruments: Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the VCAA would be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The VCAA operates 
under the Government fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and, in the event of a dispute, 
making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The VCAA’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on the face of the 
balance sheet. VCAA manages its liquidity risk by:

• close monitoring of its short-term and long-term borrowings by senior management, including monthly reviews on 
current and future borrowing levels and requirements 

• maintaining an adequate level of uncommitted funds that can be drawn at short notice to meet its short-term obligations 

• careful maturity planning of its financial obligations based on forecasts of future cash flows 

• a high credit rating for the State of Victoria (Moody’s Investor Services & Standard & Poor’s AAA), which assists in 
accessing the debt market at a lower interest rate.

The DET has provided the VCAA with a letter of comfort dated 21 August 2015 recognising that if required, the DET will 
provide supplementary funding to the VCAA to meet its current and future financial commitments as and when they fall due.

The VCAA’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.
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7.1.6 Financial instruments: Market risk

The VCAA’s exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk. Objectives, policies and processes used to 
manage this risk is disclosed below.

Sensitivity disclosure analysis and assumptions

VCAA’s sensitivity to market risk is determined based on the observed range of actual historical data for the preceding five-
year period, with all variables other than the primary risk variable held constant. The following movements are ‘reasonably 
possible’ over the next 12 months:

• A movement of 50 basis points down and 50 basis points up (2019: 50 points up and 100 points down) in the market 
interest rates (AUD).

The VCAA has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest risk at balance date. This sensitivity 
analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in this risk.

Interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of the financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The VCAA does not hold any interest-bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, 
therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

The VCAA actively manages this risk by monitoring movement in interest rates on a daily basis. Management has concluded 
for cash at bank, as a financial asset can be left at floating rate without necessarily exposing the VCAA to significant bad risk.

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates are set out below. In 
addition, the VCAA’s sensitivity to interest rate risk is set out in the following table.

Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

2020

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 1.05 31,906,109 - 31,906,109 -

Receivables(i) 909,467 - - 909,467

Total financial assets 32,815,576 - 31,906,109 909,467

Financial liabilities

Payables(i)

Supplies and services 3,856,269 - - 3,856,269

Borrowings

Lease liabilities 1,043,858 1,043,858 - -

Total financial liabilities 4,900,127 1,043,858 - 3,856,269

2019

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 1.25 34,640,341 - 34,640,341 -

Receivables(i) 2,209,840 - - 2,209,840

Total financial assets 36,850,181 - 34,640,341 2,209,840

Financial liabilities

Payables(i)

Supplies and services 9,526,829 - - 9,526,829

Borrowings

Lease liabilities 95,771 95,771 - -

Total financial liabilities 9,622,600 95,771 - 9,526,829

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input tax 

credit recoverable).
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

-50 basis points -50 basis points + 50 basis points

Carrying 
Amount

Net Result
Available-for-

sale revaluation 
surplus

Net Result
Available-for- 

sale revaluation 
surplus

$ $ $ $ $

2020

31,906,109

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits (159,531) - 159,531 -

Total impact 31,906,109 (159,531) - 159,531 -

2019

34,640,341
Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits (173,202) - 173,202 -

Total impact 34,640,341 (173,202) - 173,202 -

7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, 
are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively.

Contingent assets

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. 

These are classified as either quantifiable, where the potential economic benefits is known, or non-quantifiable.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are:

• possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or

• present obligations that rise from past events but are not recognised because:

– it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations; or

– the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable.

At 30 June 2020 the VCAA had no contingent assets (nil at 30 June 2019) and no contingent liabilities (nil at 30 June 2019).

7.3 Fair value determination

Significant judgment: Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities

Fair value determination requires judgment and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the most significant 
assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a material impact on the results and 
financial position of the VCAA. 

This section sets out information on how the VCAA determined fair value for financial reporting purposes. Fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:

• buildings, plant, equipment and vehicles.

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities which are carried at amortised cost also need to be determined for 
disclosure purposes.

The VCAA determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities as required.
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Fair value hierarchy

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

The VCAA determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 
period.

How this section is structured

For those assets and liabilities for which fair values are determined, the following disclosures are provided:

• carrying amount and the fair value (which would be the same for those assets measured at fair value);

• which level of the fair value hierarchy was used to determine the fair value; and

• in respect of those assets and liabilities subject to fair value determination using Level 3 inputs:

– a reconciliation of the movements in fair values from the beginning of the year to the end; and

– details of significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value determination.

This section is divided between disclosures in connection with fair value determination for financial instruments (refer Note 
7.3.1) and non-financial physical assets (refer Note 7.3.2).

7.3.1 Fair value determination of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

• Level 1 – the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are 
determined with reference to quoted market prices

• Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly

• Level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash 
flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The VCAA currently holds a range of financial instruments that are recorded in the financial statements where the carrying 
amounts approximate to fair value, due to their short-term nature or with the expectation that they will be paid in full by the 
end of the 2019–20 reporting period.

The VCAA determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.



65

V
ictorian C

urriculum
 and A

ssessm
ent A

uthority A
nnual R

eport 2020

7.3.2 Fair value determination: Non-financial physical assets

Fair value measurement hierarchy

2020

Carrying amount as at 

30/6/2020 
$

Fair value measurement at 
end of reporting period using: 

Level 3(i) 
$

Buildings, Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 

Vehicles (ii)

Plant and equipment

Building right-of-use (iii)

54,230

185,806

990,297

54,230

185,806

990,297

Total of Buildings, Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 1,230,333 1,230,333

2019

Carrying 
 at 30/6/2020 

$

Fair value 
Level 3(i) 

$

Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 

Vehicles(ii)

Plant and equipment
95,400

304,196

95,400

304,196

Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 399,596 399,596

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note7.3.

(ii) Vehicles are categorised to Level 3 assets as the current replacement cost is used in estimating the fair value.

(iii) Buildings right-of-use assets are categorised to Level 3 assets as end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease 
term is used in estimating the fair value.

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Vehicles are valued using the current replacement cost method. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed 
by experienced fleet managers in the Department of Treasury and Finance who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the 
utilisation of the vehicles.

Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a 
going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.

Building right-of-use asset is held at fair value.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2020.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

Buildings Plant, equipment and vehicles

Opening balance
$ 

2020
$ 

2019
$ 

2020
$ 

2019

Opening balance  -    -   399,596 238,004

Buildings right of use (note 4.1)  1,004,245 

Purchases (sales)  -    -   (21,626) 165,757

Transfers in (out) of Level 3  -    -    51,916 187,731

Gains or losses recognised in net result

Depreciation (13,948)  -   (189,850) (191,896)

Closing balance 990,297  -   240,036 399,596

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the period.

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Buildings right of use, vehicles, plant and 
equipment

Current replacement cost Useful life of buildings right of use, 
vehicles, plant and equipment

The significant unobservable inputs remain unchanged from 2019.
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8. Other Disclosures

Introduction

This section provides additional material disclosures 
required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Structure
8.1 Subsequent events

8.2 Remuneration of executives

8.3 Responsible persons

8.4 Related parties

8.5 Remuneration of auditors

8.6 Ex-gratia expenses

8.7 Economic expenses

8.8 Other accounting policies

8.9 Changes in accounting policies

8.9.1 Leases

8.9.2 Revenue from contracts with customers

8.9.3 Transition impact on financial statements

8.10 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not 
yet effective

8.11 Glossary of technical terms

8.1 Subsequent events

There were no significant events that have occurred subsequent to 30 June 2020.

The policy in connection with recognising subsequent events is as followings: where events occur between the end of the 
reporting period and the date when the financial statements are authorised to be issued:

• adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements where those events provide information about 
conditions which existed at the reporting date; and/or

• disclosure is made where the events to conditions which arose after the end of the reporting period that are considered 
to be of material interest.

8.2 Remuneration of executives

The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and their total remuneration during the 
reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provides a measure of full time 
equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on 
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories. 

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or 
payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased.

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance

Several factors affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year, including re-negotiated contracts and 
retirements. Acting arrangements are not included.

Total remuneration

Remuneration of executive officers 
(including Key Management Personnel disclosed in note 8.4).

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Short-term employee benefits 837,450 691,001

Post-employment benefits 92,749 78,325

Other long-term benefits 23,157 17,776

Termination Benefits 79,063 -

Total remuneration(i) 1,032,419 787,102

Total number of executives 6 4

Total annualised employee equivalents (ii) 3.09 3.28
 
(i) The total number of executive officers includes persons who also meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the entity 
under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within the related parties note disclosure (Note 8.4)

(ii) Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction worked over the reporting period.
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8.3 Responsible persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994 
(FMA), the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Remuneration received or receivable by Board members including the Accountable Officer in connection with the 
management of the VCAA during the reporting period was in the range:

Income Band
2020

No.

2019

No.

$0 6 7

$1 to $9,999 3 1

$10,000 to $19,999 5 6

$40,000 to $49,999 1 1

$50,000 to $59,999 1 -

$60,000 to $69,999 1 -

$150,000 to $159,999 1 -

$300,000 to $309,999 - 1

Total Numbers 18 16

Total Amount $ 397,721 $ 434,511

Amounts relating to the Ministers are excluded and reported in the Financial Statements of the Department of Parliamentary Services. For 
information regarding related party transactions of ministers, the register of members’ interests is publicly available from: 
 www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register-of-interests.

The compensation details below excludes the salaries and benefits of Ms Jenny Atta, who held the position of Secretary of the Department 
of Education and Training (DET). According to the Education and Training Reform Act 2006, membership of the authority must include the 
Secretary of the Department, however the Secretary’s remuneration and allowances are reported within the DET’s Financial Report.

Names

The persons who held the positions of Responsible Minister, Members of the VCAA are as follows.

Minister Portfolio

The Hon. James Merlino, MP Minister for Education

The Hon. Gayle Tierney MP Minister for Higher Education

The Hon. Gayle Tierney MP Minister for Training and Skills

Accountable Officer – Chief Executive Officer

Ms Sharyn Donald Term commenced 6 January 2020

Mr Claude Sgroi (Acting) Term commenced 2 September 2019, until completed 3 January 2020

Dr David Howes Term completed 30 August 2019

http://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register-of-interests
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VCAA Board Members

Mr Chris Wardlaw, Chair

Ms Jenny Atta (ex officio)

Professor Marcia Devlin

Ms Catherine Dillion

Professor Wayne Hodgson

Dr Toni Meath 

Mr Peter Moore

Mr Russell Pettis Term completed 4 July 2019

Ms Andree Poulter Term completed 4 July 2019

Ms Claire Rassussen Term completed 30 April 2020

Professor Mark Rose

Professor Kaye Stacey

Ms Aayushi Khillan Term commenced 17 September 2019

Ms Seir Holley Term commenced 17 September 2019

Ms Catharine Hydon Term commenced 17 September 2019

8.4 Related parties

The VCAA is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria within the education portfolio. Related parties of 
the VCAA include:

• all key management personnel and their close family members;

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members;

• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
financial statements.

Key management personnel of the VCAA include the Portfolio Ministers, the Secretary of the Department of Education and 
Training (DET), Board members, the Accountable Officer and senior executive managers. These include the following.

Joe Pellegrino Executive Director, Assessment and Reporting

Susan Chandler Executive Director, Curriculum 

Cameron Hill Executive Director, Infrastructure and Business Services

$ $

Compensation 2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits 916,128 1,036,251

Post-employment benefits 118,968 99,277

Other long-term benefits 22,702 24,864

Termination benefits 79,063 -

Total 1,136,861 1,160,392

Acting arrangements for Executive Officers that are KMPs are not included. 

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other member of the public, for example, stamp duty and other government fees and charges. 
Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the 
Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 
Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions with the Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements.

Related party transactions with the members of the Governing Board and their related parties, which occurred during the normal 
course of business, apart from remuneration of Board directors, which is disclosed in Note 8.3 are listed in the following table.
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The value of transactions below are between the VCAA and the DET. They do not include operational or capital funding 
which is disclosed in Note 2; however they do include resources received free of charge (Notes 2.3.3 and 3.1.2).

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Revenue received 3,977,357 5,436,542

Expenditure incurred 3,000,275 3,224,735

 
The VCAA transacts with other government-related entities in the course of performing its statutory functions. Individual 
transactions are not being considered material for this disclosure and there is no individual impact on the VCAA’s financial 
position or profit and loss.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the VCAA, there were no related party transactions that involved key 
management personnel and their close family members. No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for 
impairment of receivables from related parties.

8.5 Remuneration of auditors

$ 
2020

$ 
2019

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

Audit of the financial statements 29,400 28,700

Total remuneration of auditors 29,400 28,700

8.6 Ex-gratia expenses

As at 30 June 2020 the VCAA had not made any ex-gratia payments (nil at 30 June 2019).

8.7 Economic dependency

The VCAA is dependent on the State Government, through the DET, for a significant volume of its operating revenue, 
provision of human resources, information system support, financial facilities and ongoing financial support.

8.8 Other accounting policies

Foreign currency balances/transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the 
date of the transaction.

8.9 Changes in accounting policies

8.9.1 Leases

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on the VCAA’s financial statements.

The VCAA has applied AASB 16 with a date of initial application of 1 July 2019.

The adoption of this new standard requires the VCAA to recognise right-of-use assets and related lease liability in 
connection with all former operating leases ,except for those identified as low value or having a remaining lease term of less 
than 12 months from the date of initial application. The new Standard has been applied using the modified retrospective 
approach.

Previously, the VCAA determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains a lease under AASB 117 and 
Interpretation 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a Lease. Under AASB 16, the VCAA assesses whether a 
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease as explained in note 6.2.

On transition to AASB 16, the VCAA has elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. It applied AASB 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were 
not identified as leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a lease. Therefore, 
the definition of a lease under AASB 16 was applied to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 July 2019.
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Leases classified as operating leases under AASB 117

As a lessee, the VCAA previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether 
the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the VCAA. 
Under AASB 16, the VCAA recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases except where exemption is 
availed in respect of short-term and low-value leases.

On adoption of AASB 16, the VCAA recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified as 
operating leases under the principles of AASB 117. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining 
lease payments, discounted using the VCAA’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. On transition, right-of-use 
assets are measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease 
payments relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019.

The VCAA has elected to apply the following practical expedients when applying AASB 16 to leases previously classified as 
operating leases under AASB 117:

• Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics;

• Adjusted the right-of-use assets by the amount of AASB 137 onerous contracts provision immediately before the date of 
initial application, as an alternative to an impairment review;

• Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of  
lease term;

• Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and

• Used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

For leases that were classified as finance leases under AASB 117, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and 
lease liability at 1 July 2019 are determined as the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability under AASB 117 
immediately before that date.

Impacts on financial statements

There was no impact to the VCAA’s financial statements on transition with the adoption of AASB 16.

When measuring lease liabilities, the VCAA discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 June 
2020. The weighted average rate applied is 2.167 per cent.

The following is a reconciliation of total operaring lease commitments at 30 June 2019 (as disclosed in the financial 
statements to 30 June 2019) to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019.

$

1 July 2019

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 30 June 2019 269,458

Recognition exceptions:

Leases of low value assets (70,446)

Short term leases (199,012)

Total lease liabilities recognised under AASB 16 at 1 July 2019  -
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8.9.2 Revenue from contracts with customers

In accordance with FRD 121 requirements, the VCAA has applied the transitional provisions of AASB 15, under modified 
retrospective method with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard against the opening retained earnings at 1 
July 2019. Under this

transition method, the Department applied this standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not ‘completed contracts’ 
at the date of initial application.

Comparative information was not required to be restated.

Note 2.3.4 Sales of goods and services includes details about the transitional application of AASB 15 and how the 
standard has been applied to revenue transactions.

8.9.3 Transition impact on financial statements

There has been no impact on the 1 July 2019 balance sheet carrying amounts due to the adoption of the new accounting 
standards AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 16.

8.10 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective

Certain new Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 
June 2020 reporting period. The Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of all these new standards and 
advises of their applicability and early adoption where applicable. Please refer below to the detailed list of the Australian 
Accounting Standards issued but are not yet effective for the 2019-20 reporting period.

Standard/
Interpretation (i) Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 17 
Insurance 
Contracts

The new Australian standard eliminates inconsistencies 
and weaknesses in existing practices by providing a single 
principle based framework to account for all types of 
insurance contracts, including reissuance contract that an 
insurer holds. It also provides requirements for presentation 
and disclosure to enhance comparability between entities.

This standard currently does not apply to the not-for-profit 
public sector entities.

1 January 2021 The assessment has 
indicated that there will be 
no significant impact for the 
public sector.

AASB 2018-7 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

– Definition of 
Material

This Standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation 
of Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The 
amendments refine and clarify the definition of material in 
AASB 101 and its application by improving the wording and 
aligning the definition across AASB Standards and other 
publications. The amendments also include some supporting 
requirements in AASB 101 in the definition to give it more 
prominence and clarify the explanation accompanying the 
definition of material.

1 January 2020 The standard is not 
expected to have a 
significant impact on the 
public sector.

AASB 2020-1 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

– Classification 
of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-
Current

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements 
for the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial 
position as current or non-current. A liability is classified 
as non- current if an entity has the right at the end of the 
reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period. The meaning of 
settlement of a liability is also clarified.

1 January 2022. 
However, ED 
301 has been 
issued with the 
intention to defer 
application to 1

January 2023.

The assessment has 
indicated that there will be 
no significant impact for 
the VCAA.
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In addition to the new standards and amendments already mentioned, the AASB has issued a list of other amending 
standards that are not effective for the 2019–20 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards 
include editorial and reference changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.

• AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business

• AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework

• AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

• AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the Effect of New IFRS Standards Not 
Yet Issued in Australia

• AASB 2019-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure in Special Purpose Financial Statements of 
Not-for-Profit Private Sector Entities on Compliance with Recognition and Measurement Requirements

• AASB 2020-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Special Purpose Financial Statements for 
Certain For-Profit Private Sector Entities

• AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities 
(Appendix C)

• Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

(i) To be applied by For-Profit private sector entities. Application by other For-Profit entities is optional.

8.11 Glossary of technical terms

The following is a summary of the major technical terms used in this report.

Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans

Actuarial gains or losses are changes in the present value of the superannuation defined benefit liability resulting from:

(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred)

(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

Amortisation

Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of an on-produced physical or 
intangible asset. This expense is classified as an other economic flow.

Comprehensive result

The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of operating result and other 
comprehensive income.

Commitments

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources.

Depreciation

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or intangible asset. 

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments and superannuation contributions.

Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash

(b) an equity instrument of another entity

(c) a contractual right

– to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

– to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to 
the entity

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

– a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own equity instruments

– a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset 
for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.
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Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

Financial liability

A financial liability is any liability that is:

(a) a contractual or statutory obligation:

(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity

(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the entity;

or

(b) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instrument and is:

(i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments; or

(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset 
for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose the entity’s own equity instruments do not 
include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial statements

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

(a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period

(b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period

(d) a statement of cash flows for the period

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

(f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements

(g) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements in accordance with paragraph 41 of AASB 101.

Grants and other transfers

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit 
without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature. While grants to 
governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim 
to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but 
only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or 
services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants, which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. 
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use.

Interest expense

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Interest expenses include interest on bank overdrafts and 
short-term and long-term borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, interest component 
of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of 
discounts to reflect the passage of time.

Interest income

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on bank term deposits 
and other investments.

Leases

Leases are rights conveyed in a contract, or part of a contract, the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration.
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Net result

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of income, gains 
and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other economic flows – 
other comprehensive income’.

Net result from transactions/net operating balance

Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is revenue from transactions minus 
expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and 
losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the change 
in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies.

Non-financial asset

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’.

Other economic flows included in net result

Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from

transactions. It includes:

(a) gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-financial physical and intangible assets

(b) depletion of natural assets (non-produced) from their use or removal

(c) fair value changes of financial instruments.

Payables

Includes short-term and long-term trade debt and accounts payable, grants and interest payable.

Receivables

Includes short-term and long-term trade credit and accounts receivable, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services

Refers to revenue from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and charges for services 
rendered, sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory services and work done as an agent for private 
enterprises. It also includes rental income under operating leases and on produced assets such as buildings 
and entertainment, but excludes rent income from the use of non-produced assets such as land. User charges 
include sale of goods and services revenue.

Supplies and services

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, including maintenance 
costs, incurred in the normal operations of the VCAA.

Transactions

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an interaction 
between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within an entity such as depreciation where the owner 
is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. 
Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind 
(such as, assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In 
simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.

Style conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components 
reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the underlying unrounded amounts.

– or 0  zero, or rounded to zero

(xxx)  negative numbers

20xx  year period

20xx–xx  year period
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APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Disclosure index

Legislation Requirement

Ministerial Directions & Financial Reporting Directions Page

Report of operations – Financial Reporting Direction guidance

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 1, 18, 68

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 1

FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects 4–16

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 1

Management and structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 23

Financial and other information

FRD 10A Disclosure index 76

FRD 15E Executive officer disclosures 69

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 1

FRD 22H Occupational health and safety policy 25

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 17

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 37–39

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 17

FRD 22H Subsequent events 67

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 29–30

FRD 22H Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy 30

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 31

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 29

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 29

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 29

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 31

FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 28

FRD 29C Workforce data disclosures 26,27

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 34

Compliance attestation and declaration 

SD 5.1.4 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 32

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations iii
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Legislation Requirement

Ministerial Directions & Financial Reporting Directions Page

Financial Report

Declaration 

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 34

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements 40

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 40

SD 5.2.1(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report i-75

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements

FRD 11A Disclosure of Ex Gratia Expenses 70

FRD 21C Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel (Contractors with 
Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report

68–69

FRD 103G Non-Financial Physical Assets 47

FRD 110A Cash Flow Statement 39

FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 44–45

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 29, 30

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 31

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 28

Financial Management Act 1994 34, 35, 40
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Appendix 2 – VCAA Board meeting attendance
VCAA Board Meeting Attendance of VCAA Board Members 2020

Six Board Meetings in 2019–20

Board Member Name: 21 Aug 2019 23 Oct 2019 4 Dec 2019 26 Feb 2020 29 April 2020 24 June 2020 Attendance

Jenny Atta (ex-officio) D D D D D O 5/6

Catherine Dillon ● ● ● ● ● ● 6/6

Professor Marcia Devlin ● ● ● O ● O 4/6

Professor Wayne Hodgson ▲ ▲ ● ● ● ● 4/4

Seir Holley N/A N/A ● ● ● ● 4/4

Catharine Hydon N/A N/A ● ● ● ● 4/4

Aayushi Khillan N/A ● O ● ● ● 4/5

Dr Toni Meath ● ● ● ● ● ● 6/6

Peter Moore ● ● ● ● ● ● 6/6

Claire Rasmussen ● ● ● ● ● N/A 5/5

Professor Mark Rose ● ▲ ● ● ● ● 5/5

Emeritus Prof Kaye Stacey ● ● ● ● ● ● 6/6

Chris Wardlaw (Chair) ● ● ● ● ● ● 6/6

● Attended  ▲ Leave of absence D Delegated O Apology

Note

Claire Rasmussen’s term finished April 2020.

Aayushi Khillan attended her first meeting on 23 October 2019.

Seir Holley and Catharine Hydon attended their first meeting on 4 December 2019.
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Appendix 3 – Acronyms and abbreviations

ACARA Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority

ATAR Australian Tertiary Admission Rank

Auslan Language of the Australian deaf community

DAL Digital Assessment Library

DET Department of Education and Training

EAL English as an Additional Language

FWC Fair Work Commission

FTE Full-time equivalent

GAT General Achievement Test

HESS Higher Education Scored Study

NAPLAN National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy

RTO Registered Training Organisation 

STEM Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics

TAFE Technical and Further Education

VASS Victorian Assessment Software System

VCAA Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority

VCAL Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning

VCE Victorian Certificate of Education

VCE VET Approved program combining VCE and VET qualification

VELS Victorian Essential Learning Standards

VET Vocational Education and Training

VETiS Vocational Education and Training in Schools

VEYLDF Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework

VPS Victorian Public Sector

VRQA Victorian Registration and Qualifications Authority

VTAC Victorian Tertiary Admissions Centre 
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